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Independent auditor's report

To the Shareholders, Board of Directors and Management of Joint Stock Company “National
Company “KazMunayGas”

Opinion

We have audited the separate financial statements of Joint Stock Company “National Company
"KazMunayGas" (the Company), which comprise the separate statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2022, the separate statement of comprehensive income, separate statement of
changes in equity and separate statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the separate financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying separate financial statements present fairly, in ail material
respects, the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2022 and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the separate financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA
Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the separate
financial statements in the Republic of Kazakhstan, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most
significance in our audit of the separate financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the separate financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
separate financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the separate financial statements.

The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters
below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying separate financial
statements.
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

Accounting for acquisitions of investments
in subsidiaries and joint ventures

In 2022 the Company obtained control and
joint control over certain entities.

We consider this matter to be of most
significance in our audit due to the
significance of investments acquired to the
separate financial statements, and the
complexity of these transactions. The
Company applies equity method described in
IAS 28 "Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures” to account for investments in
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in
its separate financial statements. Due to the
lack of guidance in IAS 28 in respect of
acquisitions of investments in subsidiaries and
joint ventures from entities under common
control, the Company applied by analogy the
scope exclusion for business combinations
under common control described in IFRS 3
“Business combinations” and used the
predecessor carrying amounts at initial
recognition of investments in subsidiaries and
joint ventures acquired from entities under
common control in the separate financial
statements.

Information about acquisitions is included in
notes 3 and 6 to the separate financial
statements.

We examined the sale and purchase
agreements and other documents related to
these transactions and gained an
understanding of the main terms, nature and
structure of the transactions.

We inspected corporate approvals, corporate
and shareholders agreements and other legal
documents in order to understand the nature
of the transactions and assess the accounting
policies developed by the Company’s
management in respect of the treatment of
acquisitions of investments in subsidiaries and
joint ventures from entities under common
control in the separate financial statements.

For the acquisitions of investments in
subsidiaries and joint ventures from entities
under common control, where financial
information from the predecessor’s financial
statements was used, we compared the
information included in the separate financial
statements, with the available financial
information included in the financial
statements of previous owners.

We compared the amounts of consideration
paid by the Company per accounting records
to the related payment supporting documents
and contractual commitments.

For acquisition of investment in the joint
venture not under common control, we
assessed the management's estimates in
respect of the fair values of share in assets
and liabilities acquired.

We analyzed the related disclosures about
acquisitions of investments in subsidiaries and
joint ventures from entities under common
control, and related accounting policies in the
separate financial statements.
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Impairment of non-current assets

We consider this matter to be one of the
matters of most significance in our audit due
to materiality of the balances of non-current
assets, including investments in subsidiaries,
joint ventures and associates, to the separate

We considered management'’s assessment of
the existence of impairment indicators and
where impairment indicators were identified,
we involved our business valuation specialists
in the testing of management's impairment

financial statements, the high level of
subjectivity in respect of assumptions
underlying impairment analysis and
significant judgements and estimates made by
management.

analysis and calculation of recoverable
amounts.

We analyzed the assumptions underlying
management forecasts. We compared oil and
petroleum products prices used in the
calculation of recoverable amount {o available
market forecasts.

Assumptions included discount rates, oil and
petrofeum products prices forecasts and
inflation and exchange rate forecasts.
Significant estimates included production
forecast, future capital expenditure and oil
and gas reserves available for development
and production.

We compared the discount rates and long-
term growth rates to general market
indicators and other available evidence and
checked the adjustments made by
management when calculating the applicable
Information on non-current assets and the discount rate.
impairment tests performed is disclosed in
notes 4 and 15 to the separate financial

statements.

We tested the mathematical integrity of the
impairment models and assessed the analysis
of the sensitivity of the results of impairment
tests to changes in assumptions.

We performed procedures to assess
competence, capabilities and objectivity of
the external experts engaged by the Company
to estimate the volumes of oil and gas
reserves and prepare impairment models,
where applicable.

We analysed disclosures on impairment test in
the separate financial statements.

Other information included in the Company’s 2022 annual report

Other information consists of the information included in the Company’s 2022 Annual Report,
other than the separate financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Management is
responsible for the other information.

Our opinion on the separate financial statements does not cover the other information and we
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the separate financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the separate financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the
other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of management and the Audit Committee for the separate financial
statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the separate financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of separate financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the separate financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either
intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do
S0.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the separate financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the separate financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these separate financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the separate financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
cantrol.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

s Conciude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
separate financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease
to continue as a going concern.
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e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the separate financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the separate financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safequards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the separate financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The partner in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is Kairat
Medetbayev.

Gamt & M P

Kairat Medetbayev Olga Khegay

Audit Partner Acting General Directo

Ernst and Young LLP
Auditor qualification certificate State audit license for audit activities on
No. MDO-0000137 dated 8 February 2013 the territory of the Republic of Kazakhstan:

series MOKD-2 No. 0000003 issued by the
Ministry of finance of the Republic of
Kazakhstan on 15 July 2005

Esentai Tower, 77/7, Al-Farabi Ave.,
050600, Almaty, Republic of Kazakhstan

12 May 2023




“National Company “KazMunayGas” JSC Separafe financial statements

SEPARATE STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the years ended December 31,

In millions of tenge Note 2022 2021

Revenue from contracts with customers 7 840,128 598,897
Cost of sales 8 (728,919) (460,171)
Gross profit 111,209 138,726
General and administrative expenses 9 (34,279) (50,625)
Transportation and selling expenses 10 (18,836) (19,659)
Impairment of investments in subsidiaries 15 (85,945) (23,883)
Impairment of investments, other than investments in subsidiaries 16 - (71)
Exploration expenses 14 (3,171) (59,707)
Finance income 11 123,618 110,213
Finance costs 1 (717,341) (212,693)
Share in profit and loss of subsidiaries 12 1,160,486 887,752
Share in profit and loss of joint ventures and associates 13 888,901 568,847
(Loss)/gain on sale of subsidiaries and joint ventures (1,040) 20,775
Foreign exchange loss (139,531) (56,589)
Other operating loss, net (3,810) (5,419)
Profit before income tax 1,280,261 1,297,667
Income tax expenses 24 (162,546) (65,889)
Net profit for the year 1,117,715 1,231,778

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 9-56 form an integral part of these
separate financial statements.
i
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“National Company “KazMunayGas” JSC Separate financial statements

SEPARATE STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)

For the years ended December 31
In millions of tenge Note 2022 2021

Other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year to be reclassified
to profif or loss in subsequent periods

Hedging effect of subsidiaries 15 (11,872) 10,055
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 15, 16 572,548 195,227
Tax effect 24 (36,525) (11,818)
Other comprehensive income for the year to be reclassified to

profit or loss in subsequent periods, net of tax 524,151 193,464

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year not to be

reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods
Income of subsidiaries from revaluation of actuarial liabilities on

defined benefit plans 15 9,367 4,795
Income of subsidiaries from fair value adjustments to the carrying

amount of equity instruments, classified as financial assets at fair

value through other comprehensive income 15,16 3,157 5,861
Actuarial loss on defined benefit plans of the joint ventures, net of

tax (19) (169)
Tax effect (105) (43)
Net other comprehensive income for the year not to be

reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods, net of tax 12,400 10,444
Net other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 536,551 203,908
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 1,654,266 1,435,686

Deputy Chairman of the Management Board

( Y ArySsova

)

Chief accountant

A.S. Yesbergenova

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 9-36 form an integral part of these
separate financial statements.
2
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“National Company “KazMunayGas” JSC Separate financial statements

SEPARATE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at December 31

In millions of tenge Note 2022 2021
Asgets
Non-current assets
Exploration and evaluation assets 14 25,284 12,795
Property, plant and equipment 21,336 18,718
Investment property 20,544 22,171
Intangible assets 12,885 8,943
Investments in subsidiaries 15 14,134,077 6,797,201
Investments in joint ventures and associates 16 4,523,406 3,718,552
Other non-current non-financial assets 964 51
Loans due from related parties 25 151,844 138,132
Long-term bank deposits 17 731 1,255
15,891,071 10,717,818
Current assets
Inventories 21,340 14,273
Trade accounts receivables 18 87,228 84,546
VAT receivable 6,457 786
Income tax prepaid 531 393
Other current non-financial assets 18 24,952 39,293
Loans due from related parties 25 194,662 645,325
Dividends receivable from subsidiaries and joint ventures 25 320 9,477
Other current financial assets 18 6,454 1,736
Short-term bank deposits 17 723,669 368,580
Cash and cash equivalents 19 146,787 284,904
1,212,400 1,449,313
Assets classified as held for sale = 41
Total assets 17,403,471 12,167,172

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 9-56 form an integral part of these
separate financial statements.
3
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“National Company “KazMunayGas” JSC Separate financial statements

SEPARATE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

As at December 31

In millions of tenge Note 2022 2021
Equity
Share capital 20 916,541 916,541
Additional paid-in capital 1,136 1,136
Other capital reserves (8,774) (6,145)
Foreign currency translation reserve 4,602,317 4,066,294
Fair value reserve of financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income 12,686 9,629
Retained earnings 6,379,096 3,346,888
Total equity 11,903,002 8,334,243
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings and bonds 21 3,236,701 3,197,942
Financial guarantee obligations 22 - 25,158
Other non-current financial liabilities - 50,026
Deferred income tax liabilities 24 616,545 466,595

3,853,246 3,739,721

Current liabilities

Trade accounts payable 23 55,812 31,793
Borrowings and bonds 21 1,130,745 27,726
Financial guarantee obligations 22 29,190 10,558
Other current financial liabilities 23 111,968 11,793
Other current non-financial liabilities 23 19,508 11,338

1,347,223 93,208
Total equity and liabilities 17,103,471 12,167,172

L tf
( BA. gyssova

Z

Deputy Chairman of the Management Board

Ecn’lﬁﬂux‘ca

IAICTAH

Kty

Chief accountant

28
5&"

T A.S. Yesbergenova
)

¢ AN

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 9-56 form an integral part of these
separate financial statements.
4
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“National Company “KazMunayGas” JSC Separate financial statements

SEPARATE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the years ended December 31
In millions of tenge Note 2022 2021

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers 934,566 628,159
Dividend received from subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 15, 16 423,995 432,799
Interest received on loans due from related parties 6,163 5,580
Interest received on bank deposits 13,240 5,443
Payments to suppliers of goods and services (810,980) (585,362)
Salary and other related payments to employees (8,776) (7,767)
Interest paid 21 (155,074) (171,150)
Income tax paid (500) (1,153)
Other taxes and payments to the budget (24,979) (10,265)
Other receipts (3,077) (1,163)
Net cash flows from operating activities 374,578 295,121
Cash flows from investing activities
Placement of bank deposits (1,166,541) (464,826)
Withdrawal of bank deposits 848,078 343,966
Purchase of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and

exploration and evaluation assets (16,159) (11,743)
Contributions to share capital of subsidiaries, joint ventures and

associates 15, 16 (43,935) (23,561)
Loans given to related parties (124,378) (128,797)
Partial repayment of payables for acquisition of subsidiary - (35,644)
Proceeds from loans due from related parties 115,158 91,163
Proceeds from sale of investments in subsidiaries and joint

ventures - 20,785
Proceeds from return of investments in subsidiaries 15 59,500 67,047
Contribution to share capital of Cooperative KMG U.A* 6, 21 (751,631) =
Acquisition of notes of the National Bank of RK 25 (87,000) -
Redeem of notes of the National Bank of RK 25 17,000 -
Other receipts - 833
Net cash flows used in investing activities {1,149,908) (140,777)

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 9-56 form an integral part of these
separate financial statements.
5
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“National Company “KazMunayGas” JSC Separate financial statements

SEPARATE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

For the years ended December 31
In millions of tenge Note T 2022 2021

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings and bonds 21 826,357 105,031
Dividends paid 20 (199,997) (49,999)
Other payments | (158) —
Net cash flows from financing activities 626,202 55,032
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 10,880 3,447
Change in allowance for expected credit losses 131 (132)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (138,117) 212,691
Cash and cash equivalents, at the beginning of the year 284,904 72,213
Cash and cash equivalents, at the end of the year 146,787 284,904

*Contribution to share capital of Cooperative KMG U.A. amounted to 751.631 million tenge, which was subsequently offset by the
Company against the debt of Cooperative KMG U.A4. 10 Samruk-Kazyna (Notes 6 and 15)

Deputy Chairman of the Management Board

(DA Aryssovb

Chief accountant

A.S. Yesbergenova

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 9-56 form an integral part of these
separate financial statements.
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JSC *National Company “KazMunayGas” Separate financial statements
NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended December 31, 2022

1. GENERAL

Joint stock company “National Company “KazMunayGas” (the Company or JSC NC “KazMunayGas”) is oil and gas
enterprise of the Republic of Kazakhstan (RK), which was established on February 27, 2002 as a closed joint stock
company pursuant to the Decree No. 811 of the President of the Republic of Kazakhstan dated February 20, 2002 and the
resolution of the Government of the RK (Government) No. 248 dated February 25, 2002. The Company was formed as a
result of the merger of closed joint stock companies “National Oil and Gas Company “Kazakhoil” and “National Company
“Transport Nefti i Gaza”. As the result of the merger, all assets and liabilities, including ownership interest in all entities
owned by these companies, have been transferred to the Company. The Company was reregistered as a joint stock
company in accordance with the legislation of the RK in March 2004,

Starting from June 8, 2006, the sole shareholder of the Company was joint stock company “Kazakhstan Holding Company
for State Assets Management “Samruk”, which in October 2008 was merged with the state-owned Sustainable
Development Fund “Kazyna” and formed joint stock company “National Welfare Fund “Samruk-Kazyna” (Samruk-
Kazyna). The Government is the sole shareholder of Samruk-Kazyna. On August 7, 2015, the National Bank of RK
purchased 9.58% plus one share of the Company from Samruk-Kazyna. From December 8, 2022, 3.00% of shares of the
Company are freely available on the Astana International Exchange and the Kazakhstan Stock Exchange (KASE) stock
exchanges.

As at December 31, 2022, the Company has interest in 59 operating companies (as of December 31, 2021: 60).
The Company has its registered office in the RK, Astana, Dinmukhamed Kunayev, 8.

The principal activity of the Company includes, but is not limited, to the following:

° Participation in the development and implementation of the uniform public policy in the oil and gas sector;
. Representation of the state interests in subsoil use contracts through interest participation in those contracts; and
. Corporate governance and monitoring of exploration, development, production, oil servicing, processing,

petrochemistry, transportation and sale of hydrocarbons and the designing, construction and maintenance of
oil-and-gas pipeline and field infrastructure.

These separate financial statements of the Company were approved for issue by the Deputy Chairman of the Management
Board and the Chief accountant on May 12, 2023.

These separate financial statements of the Company have been issued in addition to the consolidated financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries for the same reporting period. The consolidated financial statements of the Company
were approved for issue by the Deputy Chairman of the Management Board and the Chief accountant on March 6, 2023.
The consolidated financial statements can be obtained on the Company’s official website or in the Company’s office.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

These separate financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except as described in the accounting
policies and the Notes to these separate financial statements. All values in these separate financial statements are rounded
to the nearest millions, except when otherwise indicated.

Statement of compliance

These separate financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by International Accounting Standards Board.

The preparation of the separate financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the accounting policy. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to these
separate financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

In course of preparation of these separate financial statements the Company’s management considered the current
international economic and geopolitical environment including the war in Ukraine (Note 28). The separate financial
statements were prepared on a going concern basis.
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going concern principle

These separate financial statements have been prepared on the assumption that the Company will continue as a going
concern in the foreseeable future.

Negative working capital in the amount of 134,823 million tenge as of December 31, 2022 was formed mainly from loans,
including loans received from related parties.

The amount of short-term loans as at December 31, 2022 includes loan received from “KazMunayGas” Exploration
Production” JSC, a subsidiary of the Company, in the amount of 1,096,340 million tenge (Note 2/). This loan is planned
to be repaid in 2023 due to with the Company’s decision to voluntarily liquidate “KazMunayGas” Exploration
Production™ JSC.

The Company does not expect difficulties in meeting its debt obligations or breach of contractual obligations. Even under
the worst-case scenario of loss of budgeted income and including unavoidable expenses, the Company will be able to
repay debt in 2023 in accordance with the agreed payment schedule using available cash, deposits in bank accounts
available to support operations, and amounts received on loans issued.

As a result, Management believes that the Company will be able to continue as a going concern in the foreseeable future.
Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

The separate financial statements are presented in Kazakhstan tenge, which is the Company’s functional and presentation
currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized
in the separate statement of comprehensive income in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined.

Exchange rates
Al

Weighted average currency exchange rates established by KASE are used as official currency exchange rates in the RK.

The currency exchange rate of KASE as at December 31, 2022 was 462.65 tenge to | US dollar. This rate was used to
translate monetary assets and liabilities denominated in United States dollars (US dollar) as at December 31, 2022 (2021:
431.80 tenge to 1 US dollar). The currency exchange ratc of KASE as at May 12, 2023 was 445.99 tenge to 1 US dollar.
For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company had a net foreign exchange loss of 139,531 million tenge due to
fluctuations in foreign exchange rates to tenge.

Renegotiation of loans in the context of IBOR reform

In the context of IBOR reform, some financial instruments have already been amended or will be amended as they
transition from IBORSs to risk free rates. In addition to the interest rate of a financial instrument changing, there may be
other changes made to the terms of the financial instrument at the time of transition. For financial instruments measured
at amortized cost, the Group will first apply the following practical expedients:

° A practical expedient to require contractual changes, or changes to cash flows that are directly required by
the reform, to be treated as changes to a floating interest rate, equivalent to a movement in a market rate of interest;

. Permit changes required by IBOR reform to be made to hedge designations and hedge documentation without
the hedging relationship being discontinued;

J Provide temporary relief to entities from having to meet the separately identifiable requirement when a risk free
rates instrument is designated as a hedge of a risk component.
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Renegotiation of loans in the context of IBOR reform (continued)

Second, for any changes not covered by the practical cxpedient, the Company applies judgement to assess whether
the changes are substantial. If the changes are substantial, the financial instrument is derecognized and a new financial
instrument is recognized. If the changes are not substantial, the Company adjusts the gross carrying amount of the financial
instrument by the present value of the changes not covered by the practical expedient, discounted using the revised
effective interest rate.

New and amended standards and interpretations

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the separate financial statements are consistent with those followed
in the preparation of the Company’s annual separate financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021, except
for the adoption of new standards and interpretations effective as of January 1, 2022.

‘The Company has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet
effective.

Several amendments and interpretations apply for the first time in 2022, but do not have an impact on the separate financial
statements of the Company.

The Company presented only the list of standards effective and applicable for the Company.

Onerous Contracts — Costs of Fulfilling a Contract — Amendments to [AS 37

The amendments specify that when assessing whether a contract is onerous or loss-making, an entity needs to include
costs that relate directly to a contract to provide goods or services including both incremental costs and an allocation of
costs directly related to contract activities. General and administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract and are
excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract. These amendments had no impact
on the separate financial statements of the Company as there were no onerous contracts identified.

Reference to the Conceptual Framework - Amendments to IFRS 3

The amendments add an exception to the recognition principle of IFRS 3 Business Combinations to avoid the issue of
potential ‘day 2’ gains or losses arising for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within the scope of IAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets or IFRIC 21 Levies, if incurred separately. The exception
requires entities to apply the criteria in [AS 37 or IFRIC 21, respectively, instead of the Conceptual Framework, to
determine whether 4 present obligation exists al the acquisition date. These amendments had no impact on the separale
financial statements of the Company as there were no contingent assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities within the
scope of these amendments arisen during the period.

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use — Amendments to IAS 16

The amendment prohibits entities from deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment, any proceeds
of the sale of items produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, an entity recognizes the proceeds from selling such items, and
the costs of producing those items, in profit or loss. These amendments had no impact on the separate financial statements
of the Company as there were no sales of such items produced by property, plant and equipment made available for use
on or after the beginning of the earliest period presented.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments — Fees in the ‘10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilities

The amendment clarifies the fees that an entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or modified financial
liability are substantially different from the terms of the original financial liability. These fees include only those paid or
received between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower or lender on
the other’s behalf. There is no similar amendment proposed for 1AS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement. These amendments had no impact on the separate financial statements of the Company as there were no
modifications of the Company’s financial instruments during the period.
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

New and amended standards and interpretations (continued)
Standards issued but not yet effective.

There are new pronouncements issued as at 31 December 2022:

° Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to IAS 8,
° Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to IAS 1 and [FRS Practice Statement 2;
. Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction — Amendments to [AS 12;

. Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback — Amendments to IFRS 16;

. Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current - Amendments to IAS 1;
» Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture - Amendments to [FRS 10
and I4S 28.

Amendments and interpretations did not have an impact on the separate financial statements of the Company.
Business combinations and goodwill

Acquisition of subsidiaries from parties under common control
Acquisitions of subsidiaries from parties under common control are accounted for using the pooling of interest method.

The assets and liabilities of the subsidiary transferred under common control are recorded in the separate financial
statements at the carrying amounts of the transferring entity (the Predecessor) at the date of the transfer. Any difference
between the total book value of net assets, including the Predecessor’s goodwill, and the consideration paid is accounted
for in the separate financial statements as an adjustment to equity.

Acquisition of joint ventures and associates from parties under common control

Acquisition of joint ventures and associates from parties under common control are accounted for using the pooling of
interest method.

The Company’s share in the assets and liabilities of the joint ventures and associates transferred under common control
is recorded in the separate financial statements at the carrying amounts of the transferring entity (the Predecessor) at the
date of the transfer. The difference between the Company’s share in the total book value of net assets, including
Predecessor’s goodwill, and the consideration paid is accounted for in the separate financial statements as an adjustment
to equity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments at the consolidated level are determined based on the type of the produced goods and services
provided in different markets. For management purposes, the Company has three main operating segments: “Exploration
and production of oil and gas”, “Oil transportation”, and “Refining and trading of crude oil and refined
products”. The Management Board is the Chicf Operating Decision Maker and monitors the operating results of its
business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation and performance
assessment. Segment disclosures are presented in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2022 in accordance with [FRS 8.

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the cquity method. Under the equity
method, the investment in a subsidiary, a joint venture or an associate is initially recognized at cost. The carrying amount
of investment is adjusted to recognize changes in the Company’s share of net assets of the subsidiary, joint venture or
associate since the acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the subsidiary, joint venture or associate is included in the
carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortized nor individually tested for impairment.
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures (continued)

The separate statement of comprehensive income reflects the Company’s share of the financial results of a subsidiary, a
joint venture or an associate. Changes in other comprehensive income of such investment objects are included in other
comprehensive income of the Company. In addition, when there has been a change directly recognized in the equity of
the subsidiary, joint venture or associate, the Company recognizes its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
separate statement of changes in equity.

The financial statements of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are prepared for the same reporting period as the
separate financial statements of the Company. If necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policy in
compliance with the accounting policy of the Company.

After application of the equity method, the Company determines whether it is necessary to recognize an additional
impairment loss on its investment in a subsidiary, a joint venture or an associate. At each reporting date, the Company
determines whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the subsidiary, joint venture or associate is impaired.
If there is such evidence, the Company calculates the amount of the impairment as the difference between the recoverable
amount of the subsidiary, joint venture or associate and its carrying value, and then recognizes that amount in a separate
statement of comprehensive income.

Upon loss of control over the subsidiary, joint control over the joint venture or significant influence over the associate,
the Company measures and recognizes any retained investments at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the investment in the subsidiary, joint venture or associate upon loss of control, joint control or significant
influence and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognized in profit or loss in the
period when loss of control occurs.

Current versus non-current classification

The Company presents assets and liabilities in the separate statement of financial position based on current and non-
current classification. An asset as current when it is:

. expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle;

. held primarily for the purpose of trading;

. expected to be realised within 12 (twelve) months after the reporting period,

. or it is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 12

(twelve) months after the reporting period.

A liability is classified as current when:

. it is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle;

o it is held primarily for the purpose of trading;

. it is due to be settled within 12 (twelve) months after the reporting period,

. or there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 (twelve) months after the

reporting period.
The Company classifies all other assets and liabilities as non-current.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current.
Oil and natural gas exploration and development expenditures

The costs incurred before obtaining subsoil use right (licenses)

Costs incurred before obtaining full subsoil use rights (licenses) are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
Costs incurred after signing preliminary agreements with the Government, are capitalised.

Clisfs
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Oil and natural gas exploration and development expenditures (continued)

Subsoil use rights acquisition costs

Subsoil use rights acquisition costs are capitalised and classified as intangible assets. Each property under exploration
and evaluation is reviewed on an annual basis to confirm that drilling activity is planned, and it is not impaired. If no
future activity is planned, the current amount of the exploration subsoil use right and related property acquisition costs is
written off. Upon determination of economically recoverable reserves (‘proved reserves’ or ‘commercial reserves’) and
internal approval of development, the carrying amount of the subsoil use right and related property acquisition costs held
on a field-by-field basis is aggregated with exploration and evaluation assets and transferred to oil and gas exploration
assets.

Exploration and evaluation costs

Once the legal right to explore has been acquired, geological and geophysical exploration costs and costs directly
associated with exploration and appraisal wells are capitalised as exploration and evaluation intangible or tangible assets,
according to the nature of the costs, until the drilling of the well is complete, and the results have been evaluated. These
costs include employee remuneration, materials and fuel used, rig costs and payments made to contractors. If no expected
reserves are found, the exploration and evaluation asset is tested for impairment. If extractable hydrocarbons are found
and, subject to further appraisal activity, which may include the drilling of further wells, are likely to be developed
commercially; the costs continue to be carried as an intangible or tangible asset while sufficient/continued progress is
made in assessing the commerciality of the hydrocarbon reserves.

All such carried costs are subject to technical, commercial and management review as well as review for impairment at
least once a year to confirm the continued intent to develop or otherwise extract value from the field. When this is no
longer the case, the assets are written off.

When proved reserves of hydrocarbons are determined and development is sanctioned, the relevant expenditure is
transferred to oil and gas development assets after impairment is assessed and any resulting impairment loss is recognized.

When this is no longer the case, and the Company decides to relinquish the contract territory to the Government and
terminate the subsoil use contract, the assets are written off.
Development costs

Costs of construction, installation or completion of infrastructure facilities such as platforms, pipelines and drilling of
producing wells, including non-producing development wells or delincation wells, are capitalised within oil and gas
development assets.

Borrowing costs

As the future economic benefits from exploration and evaluation assets are not probable, the Company does not capitalise
borrowing costs into the cost of exploration and evaluation assets.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are stated at cost, less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets
include expenditure on acquiring subsoil use rights for oil and natural gas exploration, evaluation and development,
computer software. Intangible assets acquired are carried initially at cost. The initial cost is the aggregate amount paid
and the fair value of any other consideration given to acquire the asset.

Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the expected remaining useful life. The expected useful lives
of the assets are reviewed on an annual basis and, if necessary, changes in useful lives are accounted for prospectively.
Computer software costs and licenses have an estimated useful life of 3 to 7 years.

The carrying value of intangible assets is reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
the carrying value may not be recoverable.
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognized at cost. Subsequently, property, plant and equipment is carried out
at historical cost less accumulated depreciation (other than land and construction in progress) and impairment losses,
if any. This cost includes the cost of replacing parts of equipment and borrowing costs in the case of long-term
construction projects, if the criteria for their capitalisation are met. If it is necessary to replace significant components of
fixed assets at certain intervals, the Company recognizes such components as separate assets with corresponding
individual useful lives and depreciates them accordingly. Similarly, when conducting a basic technical inspection, the
costs associated with it are recognized in the book value of fixed assets as replacement of equipment, if all recognition
criteria arc fulfilled. All other repairs and maintenance costs are recognized in profit or loss when incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the expected remaining useful average lives
as follows:

Buildings and improvements 2-100 years
Machinery and equipment 3-30 years
Other 2-20 years
Land Not depreciated

Derecognition of previously recognized property, plant and equipment or their significant component occurs when they
are disposed of or if no economic benefits are expected in the future from the use or disposal of these assets. Income or
expense arising from the derecognition of an asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) are included in the profit and loss for the reporting year in which the asset was derecognized.

The residual value, useful life and depreciation methods for fixed assets are analysed at the end of each annual reporting
period and, if necessary, adjusted on a prospective basis.

Investment properties

Investment property is initially measured at cost. Transaction costs shall be included in the initial cost.

After initial recognition, investment property is accounted for in accordance with the cost model.

The calculation of depreciation and provision for impairment of investment property is similar to the calculation as for
property, plant and equipment.

‘The Company transfers a property to or from a category of investment property if and only if there is a change
in the nature of its use. Examples of evidence of a change in usage patterns include the following:

. When the Company commences the use of the property previously leased out under operating leases or property
held for unidentified use for its own purposes — for cases when investment property is transferred to property
occupied by the owner;

. When the Company commences the redevelopment of property with a review for subsequent sale — for cases when
investment property is transferred to the property inventory;

° When operating lease contract has been signed with a lessee — for cases when the assets is transferred from the
property occupied by owner to the investment property category.

The transfer of assets in the categories of “investment property”, “property occupied by the owner” and “property
inventory” does not lead to a change in the book value of assets.
Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation assets are tested for impairment when reclassified to development tangible or intangible oil
and gas assets or whenever facts and circumstances indicate impairment of those assets.

One or more of the following facts and circumstances indicate that the Company should test exploration and evaluation
assets for impairment (the list is not exhaustive):

o The period for which the Company has the right to explore and evaluate in the specific area has expired during the
period or will expire in the near future, and is not expected to be renewed,;

J Substantive expenditure on the further exploration for and evaluation of hydrocarbon resources in the specific area
is neither budgeted nor planned;
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets (continued)

. Exploration for and evaluation of hydrocarbon resources in the specific area have not led to the discovery of
commercially viable quantities of hydrocarbon resources and the Company has decided to discontinue such
activities in the specific area;

. Sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a development in the specific area is likely to proceed, the carrying
amount of the exploration and evaluation asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful development or
by sale.

Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell. Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amounts
will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as

met only when the sale is highly probable, and the asset or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present
condition.

Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale
within one year from the date of classification.

In the separate statement of comprehensive income of the reporting period, and of the comparable period of the previous
year, income and expenses from discontinued operations are reported separately from income and expenses from
continuing operations, down to the level of profit after taxes. The resulting profit or loss (after taxes) is reported separately
in the separate statement of comprehensive income.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets once classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortized.

A discontinued operation is a component of an entity that either has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale, and
a) represents either a separate major line of business or a geographical area of operations; b) is part of a single co-ordinated
plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations, or ¢) is a subsidiary acquired
exclusively with a view to resale and the disposal involves loss of control.

Financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Company’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Company has applied the practical expedient, the Company
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Company
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under IFRS 15.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPP! test and is performed at an instrument level. The Company’s
business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business mode! determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cashflows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognized on the trade date, i.e., the datc that the
Company commits to purchase or sell the asset.
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in two categories:
° Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments);

® Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments)

This category is the most relevant to the Company. The Company measures financial assets at amortized cost if both of
the following conditions are met:

. The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

» The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the asset is derecognized, modified or impaired as
well as through amortization process.

The Company’s financial assets at amortized cost include trade and other receivables, loans due from related parties and
bank deposits.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include certain loans due from related parties, which contain embedded
derivative financial instruments, and coupon bonds included in other financial assets mandatorily required to be measured
at fair value. Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the separate statement of financial position at fair value,
and nct changes in their fair value are recognized in the separate statement of comprehensive income in profit or loss.

Derecognition
A financial asset is primarily derecognized (removed from the separate statement of financial position) when:
] The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

. The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay
the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and
either (a) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Company has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.

When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the
Company continues to recognize the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In that case, the
Company also recognizes an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis
that reflects the rights and obligations that the Company has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Company could be required to
repay.

.t
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Company recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss.

Expected credit losses are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective
intcrest rate.

The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

Expected credit losses are recognized in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, expected credit losses are provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month expected credit losses). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime expected
credit losses).

For trade and other receivables, the Company applies a simplified approach in calculating expected credit losses.
Therefore, the Company does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss allowance based on lifetime
expected credit losses at each reporting date. The Company has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

The Company considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Company may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates
that the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Company.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value on a first-in first-out (FIFO) basis. Cost includes all
costs incurred in the normal course of business in bringing each product to its present location and condition. The cost of
crude oil and refined products is the cost of production, including the appropriate proportion of depreciation, depletion
and amortization and overheads based on normal capacity.

Net realisable value of crude oil and refined products is based on estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less any costs expected to be incurred to complete the sale.

Value added tax (VAT)

The tax authorities permit the settlement of VAT on sales and purchases on a net basis. VAT receivable represents VAT
on domestic purchases net of VAT on domestic sales. Export sales are zero rated.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and cash on demand deposits, other short-term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified. at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings and payables, financial guarantee contracts, or as derivatives financial instruments, designated as hedging
instruments under effective hedging.

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and in the case of loans and borrowings, less directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Company’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings and financial guarantee
contracts.

Za
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as foilows:

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest rate (EIR). Revenues and expenses from such financial liabilities are recognized in profit or loss on derecognition
and as depreciation is charged using the effective interest rate.

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognized in the separate statement of comprehensive income when
the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the effective interest rate method amortization process. Amortized cost
is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on initial recognition and fee or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate method. The effective interest rate method amortization is included in finance costs.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Company are those contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the terms
of a debt instrument. Financial guarantce contracts are recognized initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequently, the liability is measured at
the higher of the amount initially recognized less cumulative amortization recognized in the profit or loss, and the expected
credit losses provision.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When
an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially ditferent terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized
in the profit or loss within the separate statement of comprehensive income in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and reported at the net amount in the separate statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and the Company intends to either
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined by reference
to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short positions), without
any deduction for transaction costs.

For financial instruments not traded at an active market, the fair value is determined by using appropriate valuation
techniques. Such techniques may include using recent arm’s length market transactions, reference to the current fair value
of another instrument that is substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models.

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a prescnt obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the Company expects some or all of a provision to
be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset but only
when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense related to the provision are presented in the separate statement
of comprehensive income, less of any reimbursement.
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Provisions (continued)

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash
flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the
risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognized as a finance cost.

Revenue recognition

Revenues are recognized when (or as) the Company satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised good
or service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred when (or as) the customer obtains control of that asset,
which usually occurs when the title is passed, provided that the contract price is fixed or determinable and collectability
of the receivable is reasonably assured. Specifically, domestic sales of petroleum products are usually recognized when
title passes. For export sales, title generally passes at the border of the Republic of Kazakhstan. Revenue is measured at
the fair value of the consideration received or receivable taking into account the amount of any trade discounts, volume
rebates and reimbursable taxes.

Trade receivables

A receivable represents the Company’s right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional (i.e., only the passage of
time is required before payment of the consideration is due).

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Company has received
consideration from the customer. If a customer pays consideration before the Company transfers goods or services to the
customer, a contract liability is recognized when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is earlier).
Contract liabilities are recognized as revenue when the Company performs under the contract.

Expense recognition

Expenses are recognized as incurred and are reported in the separate financial statements in the period to which they relate
on an accrual basis.

Interest and similar income and expenses

For all financial instruments measured at amortized, interest income or expense is recorded at the effective interest rate,
which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.
Interest income is included in finance income in a separate statement of comprehensive income.

Income taxes

Income tax for the year comprises current corporate income tax, excess profit tax and deferred income tax.

Current corporate income tax

Current corporate income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at thc amount expected
to be recovered from or paid to the tax authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that
are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Current corporate income tax relating to items recognized
directly in equity is recognized in equity and not in the separate statement of comprehensive income.

Deferred income fax

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

33 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Income taxes (continued)

Deferred income tax (continued)
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except:

. Where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in
joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losscs, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except:

. Where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

) In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests
in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient future taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognized deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognized to
the extent that it has become probable that futurc taxable profit will allow the deferred income tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
at the reporting date.

Deferred income tax relating to items recognized directly in equity is recognized in equity and not in the separate statement
of comprehensive income.

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxable entity and
the same taxation authority.

Significant management judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based
upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.

Dividends

Dividends are recognized as a liability and deducted from equity at the reporting date only if they are declared before or
on the reporting date. Dividends are disclosed when they are proposed before the reporting date or proposed or declared
after the reporting date but before the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Distributions to the Shareholder

Expenditures incurred by the Company based on the respective resolution of the Government based on the RK. President’s
charge or decision and instructions of Samruk-Kazyna are accounted for as other distributions through equity.
Such expenditures include costs associated with non-core activity of the Company and incurred with the aim of creating
assets or purchasing services for transferring to Shareholders (construction of social assets or reimbursement of other
expenses of Shareholders).
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the separate financial statements. They are disclosed unless the possibility of
an outflow of resources and economic benefits is remote.

Contingent assets are not recognized in the separate financial statements. They are disclosed when inflow of economic
benefits is probable.

Subsequent events

The results of post-year-end events that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the reporting date (adjusting events)
are reflected in the separate financial statements. Post-year-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the
notes to the separate financial statements when material. ;

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

‘The preparation of the Company’s separate financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities and assets, at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in
outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods.

Taxation

In assessing tax risks, management considers as probable obligations the known areas of non-compliance with tax
legislation, which the Company cannot appeal or does not believe it could successfully appeal, if additional taxes are
charged by tax authorities. Such determinations inherently involve significant judgment and are subject to change as a
result of changes in tax laws and regulations, amendments in terms of taxation of Company’s subsoil use contracts, the

determination of expected outcomes from pending tax proceedings and the outcome of ongoing compliance audits by tax
authorities.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all allowances and unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which deferred tax assets may be utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies. As at December 31, 2022 unrecognized deferred tax assets
amounted to 564,444 million tenge (2021: 556,076 million tenge) (Nofe 24).

Fair value of financial instruments

Where the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the separate statement of financial position
cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using valuation techniques including the discounted cash
flows model. The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible,
a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values. The judgements include considerations of inputs such as
liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the fair value of financial
instruments reported in the separate financial statements. Detailed information is disclosed in Note 26.

Recoverability of investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

The Company assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that investments in subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates may be impaired. Where an indicator of impairment exists, a formal estimate of the recoverable
amount is made, which is considered to be the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use. These assessments
require the use of estimates and assumptions such as long-term oil prices, discount rates, future capital requirements,
operating performance (including production and sales volumes) that are subject to risk and uncertainty. Where the
carrying amount of an investment exceeds its recoverable amount, the investment is considered to be impaired and is
written down to its recoverable amount.

In assessing recoverable amount the estimated future cash flows are adjusted for the risks specific to the asset group and
are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the mcasurement date.
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Recoverability of investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates (continued)

As at December 31, 2022 and 2021 the Company performed its annual impairment tests of investments in subsidiaries,
joint ventures and associates due to existence of impairment indicators. As a result of the impairment analysis of the
recoverable amount of investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates impairment charges were recognized in
the separate financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 (Note 15, 16).

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation assets are tested by the Company for impairment when reclassified to development tangible
and intangible oil and gas assets or whenever facts and circumstances indicate impairment of these assets. Impairment
loss is recognized at the amount by which the current amount of exploration and evaluation assets exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is determined as the greater of: fair value of exploration and evaluation assets less selling
costs and value in use.

5. DISPOSAL

PSA LLP (PSA4)

On December 20, 2022, the Company transferred to Corporate fund Samruk-Kazyna Trust 100% interest in PSA for 1
tenge. As a result, the Company lost control over PSA. The carrying value of the investment in PSA at the time of the
transfer was nil.

KazTransGas JSC (KTG)

On March 11, 2021, the Company and Samruk-Kazyna entered into a trust management agreement with respect to 100%
common shares of KTG. After the conclusion of this agreement, the Company continued to exercise control over KTG
and account for it using the equity method. On November 9, 2021, the Company transferred to Samruk-Kazyna 100%
shares of KTG for | tenge and the trust management agreement was terminated. Since that date, the Company has lost
control of KTG and has derecognized it in these separate financial statements.

The carrying value of investments in KTG at the date of disposal was 1,772,218 million tenge. The share in profit of KTG
for the period ended November §, 2021 amounted to 350,579 million tenge.

The Company’s obligation on the financial guarantee of the Company and KTG under syndicated loan of Beineu-
Shymkent Gas Pipeline LLP, the joint venture of KTG, was transferred o KTG and amounted Lo 6,443 suillion Llenge at
the date of disposal.

The transfer of KTG shares was carried out pursuant to the order of the President of the RK and the decision of the
Shareholder. Accordingly, the difference between the sale price and carrying amount of investments in KTG at the date
of disposal and the Company's obligation under the financial guarantee of GBS at the date of disposal in the amount of
1,765,755 million tenge was included in retained earnings in the separate statement of changes in equity.

6. ACQUSITION
Acquisition of subsidiaries

KMG Kashagan B.V.

On October 16, 2015, Cooperative KMG U.A., a subsidiary of the Company, sold 50% of its shares in KMG Kashagan
B.V. (Kashagan) to Samruk-Kazyna with a right to buy back all or part of the shares (Option) effective from January 1,
2018 to December 31, 2020 which was later extended to December 31, 2022.

In 2017, the Amsterdam Court imposed certain restrictions on 50% of shares in Kashagan owned by Samruk-Kazyna
(Restrictions). During the Restrictions period, these shares of Kashagan cannot be sold, transferred or pledge. As of
December 31, 2021, the Restrictions remained in force.

On June 14, 2022 the Amsterdam Court lifted the Restrictions.

On September 14, 2022 Cooperative KMG U.A. and Samruk-Kazyna signed an Amendment to Share Option Agreement
and Exercise of Option (Amendment Agreement), which set the exercise price of the Option in the amount of
3,781.7 million US dollars (equivalent to 1,777,076 million tenge).

Z
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

6. ACQUSITION (continued)
Acquisition of subsidiaries (continued)

KMG Kashagan B.V. (continued)

Amendment Agreement and Agreement on Transfer of Debt and Set-Off dated 14 September 2022 between the Company,
Samruk-Kazyna and Cooperative KMG U.A. determine the following way for consideration payment:

° The amount of 566.7 million US dollars to be paid by Cooperative KMG U.A. with 10 business days after the
completion of the deal (paid as at December 31, 2022; equivalent to 271,032 million tenge per exchange rate at
the date of payment);

. The amount of 375.1 million US dollars to be paid by Cooperative KMG U.A. by December 31, 2022 (paid as at
December 31, 2022; equivalent to 175,654 million tenge per exchange rate at the date of payment) and the amount
of 363.6 million US dollars to be paid by Cooperative KMG U.A. by 30 June 2023 (as at December 31, 2022:
168,239 million tenge);

. Part of the debt of Cooperative KMG U.A. for consideration payment for exercise of Option to Samruk-Kazyna
in the amount of 2,476.25 million US dollars (equivalent to 1,173,520 million tenge at the exchange rate at the
date of transfer) was offset against to obligation of the Company in respect to additional contribution in the share
capital of Cooperative KMG U.A. As the result of this transaction, the debt of the Company to Samruk-Kazyna in
the amount 0f 2,476.25 million US dollars was recognized. Subsequently, this debt was settled by offsetting against
the financial aid provided to Samruk-Kazyna in the amount of 424,587 million tenge (Note 25) (fair value
approximately equals to the carrying value at the date of payment) and by cash in the amount of 751,631 million
tenge which was received by the Company as a result of the placement of the Company's bonds (Note 27).

On September 15, 2022 the Company and Cooperative KMG U.A. fulfilled conditions of the Amendment Agreement,
completing the transaction, exercised the Option and 50% of Kashagan shares were re-registered in favor of Cooperative
KMG U.A.

As a result of exercising the Option, Cooperative KMG U.A. received control over Kashagan and recognized Kashagan
as a subsidiary. The acquisition accounted for as an acquisition of the subsidiary from the parties under common control
and accounted for under the pooling of interest method based on the carrying value of assets and liabilities of Kashagan
based on Predecessor’s accounting books. The difference between the consideration and net assets of Kashagan was
recognized in equity.

The share in Kashagan's profit for the period from the date of completion of the transaction to December 31, 2022
amounted to 31,103 million tenge (Note 12).

KLPE LLP (KLPE)

On December 1, 2022, the Company acquired 100% interest in share capital of KLPE for 2 tenge from Samruk-Kazyna
Ondeu LLP (SKO) and Polimer Production LLP, subsidiaries of Samruk-Kazyna. Primary activity of KLPE is the
construction of the first integrated gas and chemical complex in Kazakhstan.

As a result of acquisition, the Company has control over KLPE and recognized KLPE as a subsidiary. The acquisition
accounted for as an acquisition of the subsidiary from the parties under common control and accounted for under the
pooling of interest method based on the carrying value of assets and liabilities of KLPE based on Predecessor’s accounting
books. The carrying amount of the net assets at the time of acquisition was 25,250 million tenge. The difference between
the consideration transferred and the net assets of KLPE was recognized in equity.

Acquisition of joint ventures

Kazakhstan Petrochemical Industries Inc. LLP (KPI)

On June 13, 2022, Samruk-Kazyna transferred 49.50% of the shares KPI to the Company. The cost of the acquisition was
91,175 million tenge and was paid by setting off a part of the amount against the provided financial aid from the Company
to Samruk- Kazyna (Note 25). KPI is engaged in the implementation of the investment project “Construction of the first
integrated petrochemical complex in Atyrau region™.

49.50% interest in KP1 was accounted for as an acquisition of the joint venture from the parties under common control
and accounted for under the pooling of interest method based on its carrying value.
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

6. ACQUSITION (continued)
Acquisition of joint ventures (continued)

Kazakhstan Petrochemical Industries Inc. LLP (KPI) (continued)

SKO and the Company have joint control over the KPI where decisions about the relevant activities of KPI require
unanimous consent.

The difference between the consideration paid and carrying value of identifiable assets and liabilities of KPI at the date
of acquisition was recognized as distribution to Samruk-Kazyna and presented in the line «Acquisition of joint venturesy
in separate statement of changes in equity in the amount of 74,743 million tenge.

The share in loss of KPI for the period from the acquisition date to December 31, 2022 amounted to 18,227 million tenge
(Note 13).

The following table illustrates the carrying value of KPI assets and liabilities as at the date of the acquisition (based on
Predecessor’s accounting books):

In millions of tenge
Non-current assets 898,524
Current assets 81,276
Non-current liabilities (868,850)
Current liabilities . (77,754)
Equity 33,196
Share of ownership 49.5%
The Company'’s share in net assets 16,432
Purchase consideration transferred 91,175
Difference between consideration and carrying value of the investment in joint venture

recognized in equity 74,743

PETROSUN LLP (PETROSUN)

On July 1, 2022, in accordance with the minutes of the meeting of the Commission under the chairmanship of the Prime-
Minister of RK for the demonopolization of the economy, namely the market of fuels and lubricants, the Company
acquired 49% interest in PETROSUN, that specializes in the sale of liquefied petroleum gas and petroleum products.
The acquisition price was 1 tenge. The difference between the consideration paid and the fair value of identifiable assets
and liabilities of PETROSUN at the date of acquisition was recognized as a contribution from Samruk-Kazyna based on
instruction in minutes above and presented in the line «Acquisition of joint ventures» in separate statement of changes in
equity in the amount of 10,989 million tenge.

49% interest in PETROSUN is recognized as a joint venture and accounts for using the equity method in accordance with
IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. CNPC INTERNATIONAL IN KAZAKHSTAN LLP (the second
owner of PETROSUN) and the Company have joint control over PETROSUN where decisions about the relevant
activities of PETROSUN require the unanimous consent.

The share in PETROSUN 's profits for the six months since the acquisition date amounted to 23,184 million tenge (Note
13).

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of PETROSUN as at the date of acquisition are as presented below:

In millions of tenge

Non-current assets 35
Current assets, including 103,762
Inventories 33,770
Advanced paid 54,930
Current liabilities, including (81,371)
Contract liabilities (34,237)
Borrowings (38,198)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value 22,426
Share of ownership 49%
The Company’s share in net assets at fair value 10,989

Purchase consideration transferred -
Difference between consideration and fair value of the investment in joint venture recogﬂized in equity 10,989
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

6. ACQUSITION (continued)
Acquisition of joint ventures (continued)

Silleno LLP (Silleno)

On September 8, 2022, the Company acquired from SKO 49.9% interest in share capital of Silleno. The consideration
payable for the acquired interest in the amount of 816 million tenge was offset against the financial aid provided by
Samruk-Kazyna (Note 25).

The difference between the consideration paid for 49.9% interest in Silleno in the amount of 816 miilion tenge and the
carrying amount of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Silleno in the amount of 120 million tenge was recognized as
contribution of Samruk-Kazyna and is presented in the line “Acquisition of joint ventures” in a separate statement of
changes in equity.

The share in loss of Silleno for the period from the acquisition date to December 31, 2022 amounted to 4 million tenge
(Note 13).

7. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS

In millions of tenge 2022 2021
Sales of refined products on domestic markets 654,200 475,742
Sales of refined products on export 185,429 122,553
Freight forwarding fee 499 602
Total revenue from contracts with customers 840,128 598,897
Geographical markets

RK 654,698 476,344
Other countries 185,430 122,553
Total revenue from contracts with customers 840,128 598,897

Revenue recognition

Goods are transferred at a point in time 839,629 598,295
Services are rendered over a period of time 499 602
Total revenue from contracts with customers 840,128 598,897

For the year ended December 31, 2022 revenue from major customers of refined products “PetroRetail” LLP, “VITOL
S.A.”, “Helios” LLP, “Sinooil” LLP and “KazMunaiGas-Aero” LLP (KMG-Aero) amounted to 259,415 million tenge,
173,642 million tenge, 65,403 million tenge, 63,211 million tenge and 52,173 million tenge, respectively (2021: revenue
from major customers of refined products “PetroRetail” LLP, “VITOL S.A.” and KMG-Aero 312,848 million tenge,
115,378 million tenge and 28,314 million tenge, respectively).

8. COST OF SALES

In millions of tenge 2022 2021
Crude oil 468,849 263,111
Operational works and services 167,900 159,350
Excise taxes 90,012 35,227
Fuel additive 2,158 2,483
728,919 460,171
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

9. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

In millions of tenge 2022 2021
Payroll and other employee costs 9,723 8,753
Outsources and outstaffing services 4,388 3,807
Trust management services 2,492 23,434
Depreciation and amortization 2,476 2,685
Professional services 2,069 1,065
Information and reference assistance services 1,611 1,309
Repair and maintenance 1,580 977
VAT non-recoverable 1,563 1,610
Taxes other than income tax 1,350 1,321
Allowance/ (reversal of) for expected credit losses for trade and other current
accounts receivable 44 (148)
Other 6,983 5,812
34,279 50,625

In 2021, trust management services mainly presented by the remuneration for trust management of the 50% share in
KazRosGas LLP (KRG), joint venture of the Company, carried out by KTG, in the amount 0f 21,428 million tenge.

10. TRANSPORTATION AND SELLING EXPENSES

In millions of tenge 2022 2021
Export customs duty 9,416 9,301
Transportation 9,219 10,298
Other 201 60

18,836 19,659

11. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS

Finance income for the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 are presented below:

in millions of tenge 2022 2021
Interest income on loans and bonds due from related parties (Note 25) 83,885 67,667
Interest income on bank deposits 21,105 6,375
Total interest income 104,990 74,042
Amortization of financial guarantee (Nofe 22) 15,064 34,237
Reversal of expected credit losses for loans and bonds due from related

parties 2,873 1,507
Other 591 427
Total finance income 123,618 110,213

Finance costs for the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 are presented below:

In millions of tenge 2022 2021
Interest expenses on loans and bonds received from related parties

(Note 21 and 25) 515,221 54,959
Interest expenses on loans and bonds received from third parties (Note 21) 157,694 144,782
Interest expenses on long-term payable to related parties (Note 23 and 25) 38,978 8,086
Interest expenses on loans due from related parties (Note 25) 4,028 3,263
Total interest expenses 715,921 211,090
Accrual of expected credit losses for loans and bonds due from related parties

and financial guarantee 1,227 1,082
Other 193 521
Total finance costs 717,341 212,693
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

12.  SHARE IN PROFIT AND LOSS OF SUBSIDIARIES

in millions of tenge 2022 2021
KazMunayGas Exploration Production JSC (KMG EP) 706,281 241,793
Cooperative U.A. 346,874 170,148
KMG Karachaganak LLP (KMG Karachaganak) 66,598 29,487
KazTransOil JSC (KTO) 41,024 58,385
KMG International N.V. (KMGI) 22,480 (25,001)
TH KazMunaiGaz N.V. (TH N.V.) 20,946 11,791
Kazmortransflot LLP (KMTF) 12,371 (7,628)
KMG-Aero 8,383 2,042
Drilling Operations and Well Servicing LLP (DO&WS) 5,870 2,835
KazakhTurkMunay LLP (KTM) 3,966 4,705
Paviodar oil chemistry refinery LLP (Pavlodar Refinery) 2,094 30,921
KMG Systems & Services LLP (KMG Systems & Services) 1,871 2,561
Atyrau Refinery LLP (Atyrau Refinery) (50,165) 30,535
Urikhtau Operating LLP (Urikhtau Operating) (21,726) {13,852)
KazGPZ LLP (KazGPZ) (4,949) 861
Ken-Kurylys-Service LLP (Ken-Kurylys-Service) (1,106) (691)
KTG (Note 5) - 350,579
Others (326) (1,719)
1,160,486 887,752
13. SHARE IN PROFIT AND LOSS OF JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES
In millions of tenge 2022 2021
Joint ventures
Tengizchevroil LLP (TCO) 742,660 441,665
PETROSUN 23,184 -
JV KazGerMunai LLP (KGM) 20,530 6,108
Kazakhoil Aktobe LLP (KOA) 12,648 13,379
Kazakhstan Pipeline Ventures LLC (KPV) 3,828 4,122
KRG - 554 20,952
KPI (18,227) -
TenizService LLP (TenizService) (6,497) (3,089)
Others 1,296 1,551
Associates
Caspian Pipeline Consortium (CPC) 107,831 83,237
Others 1,094 922
888,901 568,847
28



“National Company “KazMunayGas” JSC Separate financial statements

NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

14. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS

In millions of tenge Total
Net book value at December 31, 2020 68,388
Additions 4,434
Disposals (59,707)
Other changes (320)
Net book value at December 31, 2021 12,795
Additions 15,660
Impairment _(3171)
Net book value at December 31, 2022 25,284

As at December 31, 2022 and 2021 the net book value of the exploration and evaluation assets are represented by the
following projects:

In millions of tenge 2022 2021
Project “Zhenis” 18,310 4,962

" Project “Abay” 3,512 2916
Project “Becturly Vostochny” 2,989 1,878
Project “Isatay” = 2,929
Other 473 110
25,284 12,795

In 2022, the Company recognized the impairment loss in the amount of 3,171 million tenge on “Isatay” project due to the
decision of the Company and the second strategic partner, Eni Isatay B.V., about withdrawal from the project and return
of a contract territory to the Goverment.

In 2021, the Company has written off the exploration and evaluation assets in the amount of 59,283 million tenge of
“Zhamby!” project, the subsoil use contract for which was terminated and the contract territory was returned to the
Government.

15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

As at December 31, 2022 and 2021, investments in subsidiaries are as follows:

In millions of tenge 2022 2021
Cooperative U.A. 6,533,705 3,004,352
KMG EP 2,378,879 1,682,273
KMG Karachaganak 764,908 736,523
KTO 479,827 436,042
KMGI 326,074 284 863
Pavlodar Refinery 282,421 291,029
Atyrau Refinery 111,447 155,740
THN.V. 52,376 31,517
KMTF 48,581 35,188
KTM 37,559 41,393
KLPE 25,250 =
KMG Engineering LLP (KMG Engineering) 17,959 17,986
DO&WS 16,148 10,278
KMG-Aero 12,384 6,600
KazGPZ 10,552 12,041
KMG Systems & Services 10,331 14,260
OzenMunayService LLP (OzenMunayService) 9,505 9,167
KMG Kumkol LLP (KMG Kumkol) 7,441 7,355
Ken-Kurylys-Service 3,707 4,296
KMG Security LLP 2,890 1,941
UDTV LLP (UDTV) 2,100 2,338
Urikhtau Operating = 10,897
N Biock B.V. - 1,003
Zhambyl Petroleum LLP 33 119

11,134,077 6,797,201
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The following table demonstrates activities, country of registration or location of subsidiaries of the Company as at
December 31, 2022 and 2021 as well as share of the Company in these subsidiaries:

Company Type of activity Country 2022 2021
OO0C KazMunayTeniz LLP Qil and gas exploration and production Kazakhstan
(KMT) 99.80% 99.80%
KMG EP Oil and gas exploration and production Kazakhstan 99.72% 99.72%
Urikhtau Operating Oil and gas exploration and production Kazakhstan 100.00% 100.00%
KMG Karachaganak Oil and gas exploration and production Kazakhstan 100.00% 100.00%
KT™M Oil and gas exploration and production Kazakhstan 100.00% 100.00%
N Block B.V. Oil and gas exploration and production ~ Netherlands/
Kazakhstan = 100.00%
KazGPZ Qil and natural gas production Kazakhstan 100.00% 100.00%
Atyrau Refinery Refining of oil Kazakhstan 99.53% 99.53%
Pavlodar Refinery Refining of oil Kazakhstan 100.00% 100.00%
KMGI Refining and sale of refined products Romania 100.00% 100.00%
THN.V. Sale of oil and oil products Netherlands 100.00% 100.00%
KMG-Aero Sale of aviation fuel and related refined Kazakhstan
products 100.00% 100.00%
KTO Oil transportation Kazakhstan 90.00% 90.00%
KMTF Marine transportation of oil and other cargo Kazakhstan 100.00% 100.00%
KMG Barlau LLP Conducting geological exploration and Kazakhstan
surveys 100.00% 100.00%
Ak Su KMG LLP Collection, treatment and distribution of Kazakhstan
water 100.00% 100.00%
Kurmangazy Petroleum LLP Operator on subsoil use operations Kazakhstan 100.00% 100.00%
Zhambyl Petroleum LLP Operator on subsoil use operations Kazakhstan 100.00% 100.00%
KMG Engineering Scientific and research works Kazakhstan 100.00% 100.00%
Cooperative KMG U .A. Holding company Netherlands 99.82% 99.72%
KMG Green Energy LLP Holding company Kazakhstan 100.00% 100.00%
KMG Systems & Services Leasing of Northern Caspian Environmental Kazakhstan
Response to Oil Spill Base 100.00% 100.00%
KMGS Services Kazakhstan 93.87% 93.87%
Oil Construction Company LLP Oil services Kazakhstan
(OCC) 100.00% 100.00%
Oil Service Company LLP Oil services Kazakhstan
(OSC) 100.00% 100.00%.
Oil Transport Corporation LLP Oil services Kazakhstan
(OTC) 100.00% 100.00%
Mangystauenergomunai LLP Qil services Kazakhstan 100.00% 100.00%
Munaitelekom LLP Oil services Kazakhstan 100.00% 100.00%
KMG — Security LLP Security services Kazakhstan 100.00% 100.00%
KMG Dirilling & Services Drilling services Kazakhstan 99.69% 99.69%
KMG-Kumkol Shared Services Center for information Kazakhstan
technology services 100.00% 100.00%
OzenMunayService Maintenance and workover of wells Kazakhstan 100.00% 100.00%
ubTv Production and transportation of water Kazakhstan 100.00% 100.00%
Ken-Kurylys-Service Construction of oil and gas trunk pipelines Kazakhstan 100.00% 100.00%
KMG EP-Catering LLP Catering and cleaning services Kazakhstan 100.00% 100.00%
KLPE Construction of the first integrated gas Kazakhstan
chemical complex 100.00% -
PSA Authorized body on production sharing Kazakhstan
agreement = 100.00%
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The following table demonstrates movements of investment in subsidiaries in 2022 and 2021:

In millions of tenge 2022 2021

At January 1 6,797,201 7,702,398
Share in profits of subsidiaries, net (Note 12) 1,160,486 887,752

Dividends received (73,628) (102,433)
Change in dividends receivable 5,366 35,251

Acquisitions (Note 6) 1,802,326 -
Additional contribution to share capital of Cooperative KMG U.A. 1,173,520 -
Additional contributions to share capital by cash 28,623 21,846

Additional contribution to share capital by property 107 593

Cash withdrawal from share capital (59,500) (67,047)
Withdrawal of contributions from share capital by property (23) (2,911)
Guarantee issued (Nofe 22) 8,538 25,510
Disposals (Note 5) (1,040) (1,772,218)
Discount on financial aid and loans given to subsidiaries 80,284 24,509

Discount on financial aid received from KMG EP (Note 21) (13,559) (50,494)
Impairment, net (85,945) (23,883)
Transactions with Samruk-Kazyna 7,426 -

Distributions to Samruk-Kazyna (Note 20) (10,199) (393)
Share in gain of subsidiaries from revaluation of actuarial liabilities on defined

benefit plans 9,367 4,795
Share in other comprehensive (loss)/income on cash flow hedge (11,872) 10,055

Share in gains of subsidiaries from fair value adjustment to the carrying
amount of equity instruments, classified as financial assets at fair value

through other comprehensive income 1,581 2,939
Foreign currency translation 315,142 101,144
Other changes (124) (212)
At December 31 11,134,077 6,797,201

Accumulated unrecognized losses of subsidiaries as at December 31, 2022, amounted to 209,899 million tenge
(December 31, 2021: 204,054 million tenge).

In 2022, unrecognized losses were mainly presented by losses of subsidiaries OTC, OSC, KMG Dirilling & Services and
OCC in the amount of 56,275 million tenge, 53,084 million tenge, 46,091 million tenge and 16,317 million tenge,
respectively (2021: OTC, OSC, KMG Dirilling & Services and OCC in the amount of 55,411 million tenge, 48,441 million
tenge, 46,138 million tenge and 18,049 million tenge, respectively).

Dividends

In 2022, the Company received dividends in the total amount of 73,628 million tenge, including from KMG
Karachaganak, Pavlodar Refinery, KTO and KTM for 31,296 million tenge, 10,589 million tenge, 9,000 million tenge
and 7,800 million tenge, respectively (2021: in the total amount of 102,433 million tenge, including from KTO and KMG
Karachaganak for 45,695 million tenge and 39,665 million tenge, respectively).

As at December 31, 2022, changes in dividends receivable are mainly represented by debt repayment of KMGI in the
amount of 6,477 million tenge and negative exchange rate difference in the amount of 1,111 million tenge (2021: KMG
Karachaganak in the amount of 39,665 million tenge).
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15. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Contributions to share capital of Cooperative KMG U.A.

In 2022, the Company and Cooperative KMG U.A. entered into Agreement on equity contribution and debt settlement
with respect to Cooperative KMG U.A., according to which the Company made contribution to the share capital of
Cooperative KMG U.A., which was offset against the amount of debt formed by Cooperative KMG U.A. to Samruk-
Kazyna as a result of the Amendment to Share Option Agreement and Exercise of Option, in the amount of 1,173,520
million tenge.

Contributions to share capital of subsidiaries by cash

In 2022, the Company made additional contributions in cash to the share capital of subsidiaries in the total amount of
28,623 million tenge, including PSA, OSC and KazGPZ for 11,984 million tenge, 3,642 million tenge and 3,369 million
tenge, respectively.

In 2021, the Company made additional contributions in cash to the share capital of subsidiaries in the total amount of
21,846 million tenge, including OSC, PSA and “KazMunaiGas-Onimderi” LLP for 4,782 million tenge, 4,632 million
tenge and 3,303 million tenge, respectively.

Withdrawals from share capital
In 2022, KMG Karachaganak returned the share capital in cash in the amount of 59,000 million tenge.

In 2021, KMG Karachaganak and Pavlodar Refinery returned the share capital in cash in the amount of 44,000 million
tenge and 20,000 million tenge, respectively.

Guarantees issued

In 2022, the Company has increased investments in Cooperative KMG U.A. by recognizing the fair value of the issued
guarantee in the amount of 5,464 million tenge to ensure obligations to repay the debt of Cooperative KMG U.A. to
Samruk-Kazyna for exercising the Option in the amount of 363.6 million US dollars, which is payable by June 30, 2023.

In addition, in 2022, the Company has increased investment in KTO by recognizing the fair value of the issued guarantee
in the amount of 2,911 million tenge to ensure obligations of Main Waterline LLP, a 100% subsidiary of KTO.

In 2021, the Company has increased investments in Atyrau Refinery by recognizing the fair value of the refinanced
guarantees in the amount of 25,202 million tenge. The guarantee has been refinanced to ensure liabilities related to
financing Lhe project “Construction of deep oil refining complex”.

Discount of financial aid and loans given

In 2022, the Company provided loans to Atyrau Refinery, KMT, Urikhtau Operating, OSC and OTC with the interest rate
lower than the market rate. At the same time, the discount for the total amount of 11,610 million tenge, calculated as the
difference between the fair value of these loans and their nominal value, was recognized as increase in investments in
these subsidiaries.

In addition, in 2022, the Company extended the term of the loan provided to Urikhtau Operating at the interest rate lower
than the market rate for 5 years. The discount in the amount of 68,674 million tenge was calculated as the difference
between the fair value of this loan and its nominal value and recognized as increase in investment in this subsidiary.

In 2021, the Company provided loans to Atyrau Refinery, KMG Drilling & Services, KMT and Urikhtau Operating with
the interest rate lower than the market rate. At the same time, the discount for the total amount of 24,509 million tenge,
calculated as the difference between the fair value of these loans and their nominal value, was recognized as increase in
investments in subsidiaries.

Impairment

In 2022, the Company recognized impairment loss of investments in subsidiaries for the total amount of 85,945
million tenge, including Urikhtau Operating, PSA, OSC, KMG Drilling & Services and OTC in the amount of 59,677
million tenge, 11,984 million tenge, 4,149 million tenge, 3,202 million tenge u 2,640 million tenge, respectively.

In 2021, the Company recognized impairment loss of investments in subsidiaries for the total amount of
23,883 million tenge, including UTTOS, OSC, PSA and KMG Drilling & Services in the amount of 4,921 million tenge,
4,782 million tenge, 4,632 million tenge and 3,757 million tenge, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

16. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES (continued)

The following table summarises the movements in the investments in joint ventures and associates in 2022 and 2021:

in millions of tenge 2022 2021
As at January 1 3,718,552 3,424,337
Share in profits, net (Note 13) 888,901 568,847
Dividends received (350,367) (330,366)
Acquisitions (Nofe 6) 28,357 1,007
Change in dividends receivable (38,125) (43,922)

Share in gains of joint ventures from fair value adjustment to the carrying
amount of equity instruments, classified as financial assets at fair value

through other comprehensive income 1,576 2,922
Additional contributions by cash without change in ownership 15,312 1,716
Discount of financial aid provided to joint venture (Note 25) 1,794 =
Impairment = 71)
Foreign currency translation 257,406 94,083
As at December 31 4,523,406 3,718,552
Dividends

In 2022, the Company received dividends in the total amount of 350,367 million tenge, including from TCO, CPC and
KGM 0f 207,892 million tenge, 91,088 million tenge and 22,826 million tenge, respectively.

In 2021, the Company received dividends in the total amount of 330,366 million tenge, including from TCO, CPC and
KRG of 177,260 million tenge, 88,792 million tenge and 45,532 million tenge, respectively.

Contributions to share capital

In 2022, the Company made additional contributions in cash to the share capital of joint ventures in the total amount of
15,312 million tenge, including Butadiene and Caspian Oil and Gas Company LLC for 8,518 million tenge and 6,775
million tenge, respectively.
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16. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES (continued)

The following tables illustrate summarised financial information of material joint ventures, based on financial statements
of these entities for 2022:

In millions of tenge TCO KRG KPV KGM KOA PETROSUN TenizService KP1
Non-current assets 25,713,747 40,100 76,118 71,787 51,962 28 14,283 993,030
Current assets,

including 3,046,293 99,637 4,071 53,303 17,357 123,612 16,745 100,937
Cash and cash

equivalents 1,905,924 69,000 4,059 48,729 1,186 14,662 2,570 80,619
Non-current liabilities,

including (7,808,607) (269) - (21,669) (4,101) - (573)  (918,226)
Non-current financial

liabilities (4,163,850) - - - - - - -
Current liabilities,

including (1,826,167) (21,844) (8) (39,391) (11,396) (73,899) (9,236)  (210,830)
Current financial

liabilities - - {8) - - - = -
Equity 19,125,266 117,624 80,182 64,140 §3,822 49,741 21,219 (35,089)
Share of ownership 20% 50% 49.90% 50% 50% 49% 48.996% 49.50%

Accumulated

unrecognized share

of losses - - - - - - - 17,369
Adjustments - - 3,999 - - - - -
Carrying amount of

the investments as

at December 31,

2022 3,825,063 §8,812 44,010 32,070 26,911 24,373 10,396 -
Revenue 10,949,194 192,427 - 150,039 90,330 676,932 3,182 (6,410)
Depreciation and

amortization (1,129,395) (323) - (22,550) (111) (22) (645) (1,005)
Finance income 36,076 2,765 32 791 933 870 27 1,317
Finance costs (98,857) - (1,370) (994) (261) {812) (49) (3,345)
Income tax expense (1,591,414) {4,040) - {38,783) {10,266) (12,722) (58) -
Profit/(loss) for the

year from

continuing

operations 3,713,208 1,107 7,672 41,061 25,296 47,315 (13,261) (71,910)
Other comprehensive

income 1,114,004 7,884 - 4,416 - = - -
Total

comprehensive

income/(loss) 4,827,303 8,991 7,672 45,176 26,296 47,315 (13,261) (71,910
Dividends received 207,892 - 4,022 22,826 14,000 9,800 - -
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

16. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES (continued)

The following tables illustrate summarised financial information of material joint ventures, based on financial statements
of these entities for 2021:

In millions of tenge TCO KRG KPV KGM KOA TenizService
Non-current assets 21,900,722 45,961 68,082 65,184 50,961 13,544
Current assets, including 1,454,491 80,906 3,834 54,869 18,936 34,290
Cash and cash equivalents 331,602 31,428 3,826 49,531 11,652 8,728
Non-current liabilities, including (6,307,907) (225) - (18,405) (2,671) (357)
Non-current financial liabilities (3,886,200) = - = = =
Current liabilities, including (1,517,597) (18,008) 3) (37,070) (16,702) (12,897)
Current financial liabilities {60,529) = (3) = = o
Equity 15,529,709 108,634 71,913 64,578 50,524 34,480
Share of ownership 20% 50% 49.9% 50% 50% 48.996%
Adjustments o~ = 3,999 - = —

Carrying amount of
the investments as at

December 31, 2024 3,105,942 54,317 39,884 32,289 25,262 16,894
Revenue 6,793,158 196,978 - 118,071 65,050 106,302
Depreciation and amortization (894,739) (221) - (59,318) (3.492) (106,478)
Finance income 2,341 2,908 736 743 347 14
Finance costs (62,409) - (1,383) (1,752) (588) (2,383)
Income tax expense (946,429) (12,467) - (27,785) (6,905) 245
Profit/{ioss) for the year from

continuing operations 2,208,327 41,903 8,260 12,216 26,758 (6,305)
Qther comprehensive income 393,933 4 394 - 1,596 = =
Total comprehensive

income/(loss) 2,602,260 46,297 8,260 13,812 26,758 (6,305)
Dividends received 177,260 45,532 4,337 7,441 6,003 490

The following tables illustrate summarised financial information of material associate, based on its financial statements
for 2022 and 2021:

2022 2021
in millions of tenge CcPC CPC
Non-current assets 2,240,723 2,050,453
Current assets 292,198 229,939
Non-current liabilities (35,730) (32,699)
Current liabilities (196,152) (163,713)
Equity 2,301,039 2,083,980
Share of ownership 19% 19%
Adjustments 40,670 37,959
Carrying amount of the investment as at December 31 477,867 433,915
Revenue 976,076 925,320
Depreciation and amortization ; (216,492) (174,032)
Finance income 8,120 775
Finance costs - (1,685)
Income tax expense (122,394) (128,913)
Profit for the year 567,533 438,091
Other comprehensive income 185,893 60,033
Total comprehensive income 753,426 498,124
Dividends received 91,088 88,791
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

17. BANK DEPOSITS
As at December 31, 2022 and 2021 bank deposits are presented as follows:

In millions of tenge 2022 2021
Bank deposits in US dollars 723,610 368,507
Bank deposits in tenge 831 1,390
Less: allowance for expected credit losses (41) (62)
- 724,400 369,835
Less: current portion (723,669) (368,580)
Non-current portion 731 1,255

As at December 31, 2022, the weighted-average interest rate for long-term bank deposits was 0.65% in tenge (2021:
1.23% in tenge).

As at December 31, 2022, the weighted-average interest rate for short-term bank deposits was 4.30% in US dollars and
2.24% in tenge (2021: 0.27% in US dollars and 8.96% in tenge).

In miilions of tenge 2022 2021
Maturities under 1 year 723,669 368,580
Maturities between 1 and 2 years 94 140
Maturities over 2 years 637 1,115

724,400 369,835

18. TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

In miilions of tenge 2022 2021
Trade accounts receivable due from third parties 85,667 83,686
Trade accounts receivable due from related parties 1,956 1,541
Less: allowance for expected credit losses (395) (681)
Trade accounts receivable 87,228 84,546

Other current financial assets

Other receivables due from third parties 22,250 18,454
Other receivables due from related parties 4,460 2,019
Receivable from assets sale 6,385 5,959
Less: allowance for expected credit losses (26,641) (24,696)
6,454 1,736

Other current non-financial assets
Advances provided to related parties 15,092 34,252
Advances provided to third parties 6,520 2,633
Other taxes prepaid 3,323 2342
Other 17 66
24,952 39,293
Total other current financial and non-financial assets 31,406 41,029

The significant changes in trade accounts receivable due from related parties and advances provided to related parties are
disclosed in the Nofe 25.

As at December 31, 2022 receivable from assets sale is represented by receivable from Union Field Group Ltd for sale of
50% interest in KMG Usturt LLP in the amount of 6,385 million tenge (2021: 5,959 million tenge). The Company accrued
allowance for expected credit losses for the entire amount of receivable from Union Field Group Ltd.

As at December 31, 2022 other taxes prepaid are mainly represented by export custom duty prepayment on oil products
in the amount of 3,163 million tenge (2021: 2,080 million tenge).

As at December 31, 2022 and 2021 trade accounts receivable are denominated in tenge.
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

18. TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Company’s trade receivables using a provision
matrix:

Days past due
In millions of tenge Current <30 days 30-60 days 61-90 days >91 days Total
December 31, 2022
Expected credit loss rate 0.26% 0.92% 2.50% - -
Trade accounts receivable 67,533 17,862 2,207 21 - 87,623
Allowance for expected credit
losses (176) (164) (55) - = (395)
Days past due
In millions of tenge Current <30 days 30-60 days 61-90 days >91 days Total
December 31, 2021
Expected credit loss rate 0.80% 0.81% = - -
Trade accounts receivable 84,344 851 32 - = 85,227
Allowance for expected credit
losses (674) (7) - = - (681)

19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

As at December 31, 2022 and 2021 cash and cash equivalents are presented as follows:

In millions of tenge 2022 2021
Time deposits with Kazakhstani banks - tenge 49,183 103,114
Time deposits with foreign banks - US dollars 30,142 116,250
Current accounts with Kazakhstan banks — US dollars 39,132 65,572
Current accounts with Kazakhstan banks - tenge 787 80
Current accounts with foreign banks — US dollars 45 21
The contracts of reverse repo with original maturities of three months or less 27,499 =
Less: allowance for expected credit losses (1) (133)
146,787 284,904

As at December 31, 2022, the weighted average rates for time deposits in US dollars and in tenge equaled to 4.52% and
16.25% (2021: for time deposits in US dollars and in tenge equaled to 0.18% and 9.17%).

As at December 31, 2022, the interest rates for current accounts varied from 7.90% to 11.50% in tenge (2021: from 7.25%
to 7.90%) and from 0.50% to 4.44% in US dollars (2021: from 0.18% to 0.6%).

As at December 31, 2022and 2021, no cash is pledged as collateral.
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

20. EQUITY

Share capital

The total number of outstanding, issued and paid shares includes:

December 31,
2022 and
2021

Number of shares issued and paid,
including 610,119,493
Par value of 27,726.63 tenge 137,900
Par value of 10,000 tenge 20,719,604
Par value of 5,000 tenge 59,707,029
Par value of 2,500 tenge 71,104,187
Par value of 2,451 tenge 1
Par value of 1,000 tenge 1
Par value of 921 tenge 1
Par value of 858 tenge 1
Par value of 838 tenge 1
Par value of 704 tenge 1
Par value of 592 tenge 1
Par value of 500 tenge 458,450,766
Share capital {in thousands of tenge) 916,540,545

As at December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company had only one class of issued shares. As at December 31, 2022 and
2021, common shares in the number of 239,440,103 were authorised, but not issued. In 2022, there was no issuance of
any ordinary share.

Dividends

In 2022, based on the decision of Samruk-Kazyna and National Bank of RK, the Company declared and paid-off dividends
for 2021 of 327.80 tenge per common share in the total of 199,997 million tenge (2021: declared dividends for 2020 of
81.95 tenge per common share in the total of 49,999 million tenge).

Transactions with Samruk-Kazyna

In 2022, the Company provided Samruk-Kazyna additional interest-free financial aid tranches of 23,605 million tenge
(2021: 43,151 million tenge) under a long-term financial aid agreement signed on December 25, 2015, with a current
maturity in 2022 (Note 25). In 2022, the difference between the fair value and nominal amount of the additional tranches
of 1,906 million tenge (2021: 5,222 million tenge) was recognized as transactions with Samruk-Kazyna in the separate
statement of changes in equity.

In September 2022, the Company placed bonds for 751,631 million tenge at a coupon interest rate of 3.00% per annum
and due in 2035. The coupon rate is below market rate. Samruk-Kazyna purchased the bonds. The difference between the
fair value and nominal amount of bonds of 380,477 million tenge was recognized as a transaction with Samruk-Kazyna
in the separate statement of changes in equity (Note 21).

Distributions to Samruk-Kazyna

Financing of the construction of social facilities

In 2022, Ozenmunaygas LLP (OMG), subsidiary of KMG EP, in accordance with the Government decree on construction
of the medical center in Zhanaozen town and on housing of the residents, living in Zhanaozen town, accrued liabilities in
the amount of 10,199 million tenge and recognized as distribution to Samruk-Kazyna in equity (of which 2,398 million
tenge was paid in 2022).

In 2021, OMG, in accordance with the Government decree on housing of the residents, living in Zhanaozen town, accrued
the reserve in the amount of 393 million tenge.

In 2021, the Company received a refund of savings in cash paid by the Company to finance social facilities construction
in Turkestan city in the amount of 308 million tenge.

Gk
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

21. BORROWINGS AND BONDS

In millions of tenge 2022 2021
Fixed interest rate borrowings and bonds 4,343,678 3,213,313
Weighted average interest rates 3.78% 4.43%
Floating interest rate borrowings and bonds 23,768 12,355
Weighted average interest rates 3.85% 3.71%
4,367,446 3,225,668

As at December 31,2022 and December 31, 2021, all borrowings and bonds are denominated in the following currencies:

In millions of tenge 2022 2021
US Dollar 2,891,800 2,685,431
Tenge 1,475,646 540,237
. 4,367,446 3,225,668

In millions of tenge 2022 2021
Current portion 1,130,745 27,726
Due from 2 to 5 years 686,801 214,852
Due over 5 years 2,526,132 2,970,735
Long-term portion 3,212,933 3,185,587
Borrowings under subsoil use projects 23,768 12,355
4,367,446 3,225,668
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

21. BORROWINGS AND BONDS (continued)
As at December 31, 2022 and 2021, the bonds issued comprised the following:

In millions of tenge Issuance amount Redemption date Interest 2022 2021
Bonds LSE 2017 1 billion USD April 2027 4.75% 460,655 428,552
Bonds LSE 2017 1.25 billion USD April 2047 5.75% 561,160 522,827
Bonds LSE 2018 0.5 billion USD April 2025 4.75% 232,586 216,760
Bonds LSE 2018 1.25 billion USD April 2030 5.375% 579,391 540,156
Bonds LSE 2018 1.5 billion USD October 2048 6.375% 685,181 639,046
Bonds LSE 2020 0.75 billion USD April 2033 3.50% 349,059 325,735

Bonds KASE 2022 751.6 billion tenge October 2035 3.00%

(14.50%
effective interest

rate) 379,306 -
3,247,338 2,673,076

In September 2022, the Company placed bonds for 751,631 million tenge at a coupon interest rate of 3.00% per annum
and due in 2035. Samruk-Kazyna purchased the bonds. The difference between the fair value and nominal amount of
bonds of 380,477 million tenge was recognized as a transaction with Samruk-Kazyna in the separate statement of changes
in equity (Note 20 and 25).

The increase in carrying value of bonds in 2022, also is due to the effect of the foreign currency exchange rate on bonds
placed at the London Stock Exchange (LSE) and denominated in US dollars for 190,916 million tenge.

As at December 31, 2022 and 2021, the borrowings other than bonds issued comprised the following:

in millions of tenge

Creditors Issuance amount Redemption date interest 2022 2021
KMG EP 2 billion tenge 2027 0.01% 1,096,340 540,237
Lukoil Kazakhstan Financing for share of KMG
Upstream LLP costs in execution of subsoil From beginning
use contract on project of commercial 12M Libor +
“Zhenis” exploration 2.50% 12,876 4.441
Eni Isatay B.V. Financing for share of KMG
costs in execution of subsoil  From beginning
use contracts on project of commercial 12M Libor +
“Isatay” and “*Abay” exploration 3.00% 7,051 5,429

KokelMunay LLP Financing for share of KMG
costs in execution of subsoil From beginning
use contraction project of commercial 12M Libor +
“Becturly” exploration 2.50% 3,841 2,485

1,120,108 552,592

In 2022, the Company received additional tranche of loan from KMG EP for the total amount of 65,015 million tenge
(2021: 100,413 million tenge). The difference between fair value of loan and its nominal value of 13,559 million tenge
and was recognized as decrease in investment in KMG EP (Note 15).

On November 22, 2022, the Company decided to voluntarily liquidate KMG EP, which is planned for 2023, and therefore
loan received from KMG EP was brought to nominal value, amortization of the discount in the amount of 504,542 million
tenge was recognized as finance costs in separate statement of comprehensive income (Notes 11 and 25). As at December 31,
2022, the debt on the loan was transferred from the long-term part to the short-term part.
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

21. BORROWINGS AND BONDS (continued)

Changes in borrowings and bonds

In millions of tenge 2022 2021
As at January 1 3,225,668 3,073,947
Received in cash 826,357 105,031
Interest paid (155,074) (171,150)
Interest accrued (Note 11) 672,915 198,741
Discount recognition (Note 15 and 20) (394,036) (50,494)
Foreign exchange loss 191,616 68,593
As at December 31 4,367,446 3,225,668
Current portion 1,130,745 27,726
Non-current portion 3,236,701 3,197,942
Covenants

The Company is required to ensure the execution of the financial and non-financial covenants under the terms of the loan
agreements. As of December 31, 2022, and 2021, the Company complies with all financial and non-financial covenants.

22. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE OBLIGATIONS

The changes in financial guarantee obligations in 2022 and 2021 comprised the following:

In millions of tenge 2022 2021
As at January 1 35,716 50,886
Guarantees issued in respect of subsidiaries during the year (Note 15) 8,538 25,510
Amortization of financial guarantee obligations (Notes 5, 11) (15,064) _(40,680)
As at December 31 29,190 35,716
Less: current portion (29,190) (10,558)

Non-current portion 25,158

23. TRADE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
As at December 31, 2022 and 2021, trade accounts payable and other current liabilities are presented by the following:

In millions of tenge 2022 2021
Trade accounts payable to related parties §5.793 31,788
Trade accounts payable to third parties 19 5
Trade accounts payable 55.812 31,793
Other current financial liabilities
Payable for the acquisition of a subsidiary and joint venture 89,004 =
Other payables to third parties 11,076 4,475
Other payables to related parties 10,011 4,748
Due to employees 1,877 2,570
111,968 11,793
Other current non-financial liabilities
Contract liabilities 18,434 11,068
Other 1,074 280
19,508 11,338
Total other current financial and non-financial liabilities 131,476 23,131

As at December 31, 2022 and 2021 trade payables and other current liabilities are non-interest bearing.
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

23, TRADE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES (continued)
As at December 31, 2022 and 2021 trade accounts payable denominated in tenge.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company's debt to KMG EP in the amount of 89,004 million tenge for the acquisition of 100%
interest in the share capital of a subsidiary and 50% share in a joint venture was transferred from the long-term part of other
financial liabilities to the short-term part, due to with the Company's decision to voluntarily liquidate KMG EP dated
November 22,2022 (as at December 31, 2021: long-term part of 50,026 million tenge). The Company recognized amortization
of the discount in the amount of 38,978 million tenge as finance costs in the separate statement of comprehensive income
(Notes 11 and 25).

Contract liabilities movement:

In millions of tenge 2022 2021
At January 1 11,058 13,856
Deferred during the year 379,458 260,242
Recognized as revenue during the year (372,082) (263,040)
At December 31 18,434 11,058

Current portion 18,434 11,058
Non-current portion -

24, INCOME TAX EXPENSES

The major components of income tax expenses for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

In millions of tenge 2022 2021
Income tax
Current withholding tax on dividends and interest received 49,121 42,745
Current corporate income tax expenses - 1
Current excess profit tax = 1
49,121 42,747
Write-off of deferred assets 40,176 11,231
Deferred income tax expenses 73,011 11,945
Deferred excess profit tax expense/(benefit) 238 (34)
113,425 23,142
Income tax expenses 162,546 65,889

Reconciliation of income tax expenses applicable to profit before income tax at the statutory income tax rate (20% in
2022 and 2021) to income tax expenses was as follows for the years ended December 31:

in millions of tenge 2022 2021
Profit before income tax from continuing operations 1,280,261 1,297,667
Statutory tax rate 20% 20%
Income tax expense on accounting profit 256,052 259,533
Change in unrecognized deferred tax assets 40,176 11,231
Share in profit of subsidiaries and joint ventures (250,911) (215,214)
Discounting and unwinding of discount on financial assets and liabilities 92,736 (4,391)
Impairment of investments in subsidiaries 16,832 4,742
Deferred excess profit tax 239 (34)
Effect of the application of the requirements of the legislation on transfer

pricing and on income received in countries with preferential taxation 2,837 4572
Disposal of investments 2,873 2,841
Other 1,712 2,609
Income tax expenses 162,546 65,889
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“National Company “KazMunayGas” JSC Separate financial statements

NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCJIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The following table provides the total amount of transactions, which have been entered into with related parties during
2022 and 2021 and the related balances as at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively:

in millions of tenge 2022 2021
Revenue from contract with customers 90,589 42,939
Subsidiaries 64,439 39,677
Joint ventures 2,866 2,723
Associates 295 257
Entities under common control of Samruk-Kazyna 22,989 282
Acquisition of goods, services and property, plant and equipment 620,351 462,241
Subsidiaries 590,235 430,983
Joint ventures 26,619 5,092
Associates 2,013 2,939
Entities under common control of Samruk-Kazyna 1,484 23,227
Interest accrued on financial assets 83,885 67,667
Subsidiaries 33,061 26,965°
Joint ventures 5,671 3,929
Samruk-Kazyna 43,391 36,639
Entities under common control of Samruk-Kazyna 1,368 134
Other related parties 394 -
Interest accrued on financial liabilities 558,227 66,308
Subsidiaries 548,196 63,580
Samruk-Kazyna 10,031 -
Entities under common control of the Government - 2,728

Revenue from contract with customers

In 2022, the sale of oil products to subsidiaries consisted mainly from sales of 0il products to KMG-Aero, Atyrau Refinery,
OMG and Pavlodar Refinery in the amount of 52,173 million tenge, 3,830 million tenge, 3,183 million tenge and 3,071
million tenge, respectively (2021: KMG-Aero, Atyrau Refinery, OMG and Pavlodar Refinery in the amount of 28,314
million tenge, 4,085 million tenge, 3,015 million tenge and 2,028 million tenge, respectively).

In 2022, the sale of oil products to Entities under common control of Samruk-Kazyna consisted mainly from sales of
diesel fuel to *NC Kazakhstan Temir Zholy” JSC in the amount of 22,151 million tenge (2021: nil).
Acquisition of goods, services and property, plant and equipment

Acquisition of goods, services and property, plant and equipment are mainly related to the Company’s refining process
of crude oil.

In 2022, the Company acquired crude oil from subsidiaries of KMG EP, OMG and EmbaMunayGas JSC (EMG), KTM
and Urikhtau Operating in the amount of 273,548 million tenge, 126,798 million tenge, 11,248 million tenge and
3,843 million tenge, respectively (in 2021: OMG, EMG, KTM and Urikhtau Operating in the amount of 159,512 million
tenge, 90,898 million tenge, 9,382 million tenge and 3,319 million tenge, respectively).

In 2022, the Company acquired services for the processing of crude oil from the Atyrau Refinery and Pavlodar Refinery
in the amount of 100,130 million tenge and 46,145 million tenge, respectively (in 2021: Atyrau Refinery and
Pavlodar Refinery 119,144 million tenge and 35,290 million tenge, respectively).

In 2022, the Company purchased crude oil from KAO, joint venture of the Company, in the amount of 4,850 million
tenge (in 2021: nil).

In 2022, the Company acquired services for the processing of crude oil from joint venture Petro Kazakhstan Oil Products
LLP (PKOP) in the amount of 21,626 million tenge (in 2021: 4,916 million tenge).

In 2021, the Company was provided with trust management services for a 50% share in KRG, joint venture of the Company,
carried out by KTG, entity under common control of Samruk-Kazyna, in the amount of 21,428 million tenge (Note 9).
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“National Company “KazMunayGas” JSC Separate financial statements

NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

25, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Interest accrued on financial liabilities

In 2022, interest accrued on financial liabilities to subsidiaries is mainly represented by the amortization of the discount
recognized in finance costs in the separate statement of comprehensive income in respect of loan from KMG EP and
payables for the acquisition from KMG EP of 100% interest in share capital of a subsidiary and 50% share in a joint
venture for the total amount of 543,520 million tenge (Notes 21 and 23).

In 2022, interest accrued on financial liabilities of Samruk-Kazyna is represented by interest expense accrued on bonds
issued by Samruk-Kazyna in the amount of 751,631 million tenge with a coupon rate of 3,00% per annum and due in
2035 (Note 21).

in millions of tenge 2022 2021
Assets
Bank deposits - 86,481
Entities under common control of the Government - 86,490
Less: allowance for expected credit losses - 9)
Loans due from related parties 346,506 783,457
Loans due from related parties at amortized cost 292,617 708,845
Subsidiaries 175,085 218,979
Joint ventures 13,529 -
Associates 1,086 1,086
Entities under common control of Samruk-Kazyna 15,847 21,540
Notes of National Bank of RK 70,192 -
Bonds receivable from Samruk — Kazyna 19,665 18,433
Financial aid provided to Samruk - Kazyna - 453,327
Less: allowance for expected credit losses (2,787) (4,520)
Loans due from related parties at fair value through profit or loss 53,389 74,612
Joint venture (PKOP) 53,889 74,612
Trade accounts receivable and other current assets 21,484 37,71
Subsidiaries 17,184 36,898
Joint ventures 1,472 752
Associates 1,505 128
Entities under common control of Samruk-Kazyna 1,347 34
Less: allowance for expected credit losses (24) (101)
Dividends receivable from subsidiaries and joint ventures 320 9,477
Liabilities
Trade accounts payable and other liabilities 154,996 86,719
Subsidiaries 149,152 85,294
Joint ventures 3,983 726
Associates 1,535 294
Entities under common control of Samruk-Kazyna 326 405
Financial guarantee obligations (Note 22) 29,190 35,716
Subsidiaries and their subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 29,190 35,594
Entities under common control of Samruk-Kazyna - 122
Borrowings and bonds (Note 21) 1,475,646 540,237
Subsidiaries 1,096,340 540,237
Bonds of the Company, acquired by Samruk-Kazyna 379,306 -
47
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“National Company “KazMunayGas” JSC Separate financial statements

NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Bank deposits

As at December 31, 2022, the period for placing bank deposits has expired.

As of December 31, 2021, the bank deposits are represented by deposit placed by the Company for the total amount of
200 million US dollars (equivalent to 86,360 million tenge) at market rate.

Loans due from related parties

As of December 31, 2022, and 2021, loans due from related parties are as follows:

Interest rate,

In millions of tenge Maturity per anhum 2022 2021
Urikhtau Operating 2027 7.00% 74,637 108,009
Notes of National Bank of RK 2023 16.71% 70,192 -
PKOP 2024 12M Libor + 3.5% 53,889 74,612
Atyrau Refinery 2023-2032 0.00%-3.50% 51,234 43,745
KMG Drilling & Services 2023-2029 2.00%-5.75% 29,893 40,517
Bonds receivable from Samruk -

Kazyna 2044 0.50% 19,665 18,433
KTG 2024 0.01% 15,847 21,540
KPI 2023 0.00% 13,629 -
Subsidiaries of Kazmortransflot 2023 4.46% 11,930 18,941
CPC 2020 6.00% 1,086 1,086
Financial aid provided to Samruk -

Kazyna (Note 6) 2022 0.00% - 453,327
Other 7,391 7,767
Less: allowance for expected credit

losses (2,787) (4,520)

346,506 783,457
Less: current portion {194,662) (645,325)
Non-current portion 151,844 138,132

As at December 31, 2022 and 2021, all loans due from related parties are denominated in the following currencies:

In millions of tenge 2022 2021
Tenge 265,009 668,585
US dollar 81,497 114,872

346,506 783,457

In 2022, the Company purchased short-term notes of the National Bank of RK in the total amount of 87,000 million tenge,
of which notes in the amount of 17,000 million tenge were redeemed by the issuer.

In 2022, the Company provided KPI with interest-free financial aid in the amount of 14,550 million tenge. At the same
time, discount of 1,794 million tenge calculated as the difference between the fair value of this financial aid and its
nominal value was recognized as an investment in KPI (Note 16).

In 2022, the Company fully repaid the interest-free financial aid provided to Samruk-Kazyna by offset the debt for the
acquisition of 49.50% ownership interest in KPI in the amount of 91,175 million tenge (Note 6), with the debt for the
acquisition 0f 49.9% ownership interest in Silleno in the amount of 816 million tenge (Note 6) and debt to Samruk-Kazyna
for the acquisition of Cooperative KMG U.A. 50% ownership interest in Kashagan in the amount of 424,587 million
tenge (Note 6).

In 2021, the Company provided a loan to KTG in the amount of 56 million US dollars (equivalent to 24,104 million tenge
at the exchange rate at the date of payment) with the interest rate lower than the market rate and related discount in the
total amount of 2,703 million tenge was calculated as the difference between the fair value of this loan and its nominal
value and recognized in finance costs (Note 11).
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Trade accounts receivable and other current assets

As at December 31, 2022, trade receivables and other current assets from subsidiaries are mainly represented by
receivables from OMG for oil products and services for the sale of crude oil in the amount of 2,649 million tenge
(2021: 2,241 million tenge) and an advance provided by the Company to Atyrau Refinery under the oil processing contract
in the amount of 11,111 million tenge (2021: 32,651 million tenge).

Trade accounts payable and other liabilities

As at December 31, 2022, trade payables and other liabilities include the Company’s payables to KMG EP for the
acquisition of subsidiary and a joint venture in the total amount of 89,004 million tenge, as well as trade payables to OMG
and EMG in the amount of 37,653 million tenge and 15,099 million tenge, respectively (2021: Company’s payables to
KMG EP for the acquisition of subsidiary and a joint venture in the total amount of 50,026 million tenge, as well as trade
payables to EMG and OMG in the amount of 15,537 million tenge and 14,990 million tenge, respectively).

Compensation to the key management personnel

Key management personnel comprise members of the Management Board and the Board of Directors of the Company,
totalling 15 persons as at December 31, 2022 (2021: 13 persons). Total compensation to the key management personnel
included in general and administrative expenses in these separate financial statements amounted to 861 million tenge and
847 million tenge for 2022 and 2021, respectively. Compensation to key management personnel consists of contractual
salary and performance bonus based on operating results of the Company.
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Company’s principal financial liabilities comprise borrowings, financial guarantee obligations, trade accounts
payable, payable on purchase of interest in subsidiary. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to raise finance
for the Company’s investing activities. The Company’s financial assets comprise long-term and short-term bank deposits,
cash and cash equivalents, loans from related parties that arise directly from its operations.

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk, currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Company’s management
oversees the management of these risks.
Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily
to the Company’s long-term loans with floating interest rates (Note 21).

The Company’s policy is to manage its interest rate risk using a mix of fixed and variable rates on borrowings.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Company’s profit before income tax (through the impact on
floating rate borrowings and bonds) to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant.
There is no direct impact on the Company’s equity.

Increase/ Effect on profit

decrease in before
in millions of tenge basis points income tax
2022 +2.45 739
Libor -2.45 (739)
2021 +1.25 778
Libor -0.25 (156)

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract,
leading to a financial loss. The Company is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables)
and from its financing activities, including deposits with banks and financial institutions, foreign exchange transactions
and other financial instruments.

It is the Company’s policy to enter into financial instrument transactions with creditworthy counterparties. Maximum
credit risk exposure equals to the carrying amount of each financial asset. The Company believes that the maximum risk
amount is represented by loans from the related parties (Note 25), long and short-term bank deposits (Note 17), trade
accounts receivable (Note 18), cash and cash equivalents (Note 19), net of expected credit losses, recorded at the reporting
date.

The table below shows the risk profile of Company’s cash and cash equivalents, short-term and long-term deposits held
in banks as at December 31, 2022 and 2021 using the Fitch credit ratings, or in their absence, using their equivalent rates
in S&P and Moody’s:

At December 31
% 2022 2021
A+ 25% 9%
Ato A- 61% 51%
BBB to BBB- 13% 37%
BB+ to BB- 0% 0%
B+ to B- 0% 2%
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet commitments associated with

its financial liabilities. Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell a financial asset quickly at a price close to its fair
value.

Liquidity requirements are monitored on a regular basis and management ensures that sufficient funds are available to
meet any commitments as they arise.

The tables below summarise the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities at December 31, 2022 and 2021,
based on contractual undiscounted payments.

Less than From 1 to 3 months to From 1 to Over
in millions of tenge 1 month 3 months 1 year 5 years 5 years Total
At December 31, 2022
Borrowings and bonds - - 176,236 1,354,019 4,828,833 6,359,088
Financial guaranties* - 33,555 228,400 431,408 20,058 713,421
Trade payables 50,252 5,560 = = = 55,812
Other financial liabilities 16,866 3,681 2,418 - = 22,965
67,118 42,796 407,054 1,785,427 4,848,891 7,451,286
Less than From 1 to 3 months to From 1 to Over
In millions of tenge 1 month 3 months 1 year 5 years 5 years Total
At December 31, 2021
Borrowings and bonds - - 143,439 772,363 5,219,401 6,135,203
Financial guaranties* - 272,118 32,862 387,917 89,198 782,095
Trade payables 31,793 = = = = 31,793
Other financial liabilities 5,255 3,402 208 89,410 - 98,275
37,048 275,520 176,509 1,249,690 5,308,599 7,047,366

* A financial guarantee is a contract by which the issuer is required to make specified payments to reimburse the holder of the instrument for a loss
it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original or revised terms of a debt instrument. Under IFRS
7.B11C(c), under financial guarantee agreements issued by the Company, the maximum amount of the guarantee relates lo the very first period in
which the guarantee can be called. In the liquidity table above, the financial guarantee is represented by the maximum amount by maturity of the
underlying debt instrument. Under financial guarantee agreements, in the event of a default or improper performance by the debtor, the Company
unconditionally undertakes to pay the entire amount of principal and unpaid interest within a certain period of time. In 2022 and 2021, there were no
cases gf using financial guarantees.

Currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of changes
in foreign exchange rates. The Company’s operations are carried out primarily in Kazakhstan. Nevertheless, the
Company’s vast majority of cash inflows and outflows are denominated in US dollars.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Company’s profit before income tax to a reasonably possible
change in the US dollar exchange rate, with all other variables held constant. There is no direct impact on the Company’s

equity.

Increase/ Effect on

decrease in profit before

In millions of tenge US dollar rate income tax
2022 21.00% (420,177)
-21.00% 420,177
2021 13.00% (259,358)
-10.00% 199,506
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to maximise the shareholder value. The Company
manages its capital to ensure that Company will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The Company seeks to maintain a prudent capital structure to support its capital investment plans and maintain investment
grade credit rating through the cycle. Maintaining sufficient financial flexibility is considered strategically important to
mitigate industry cyclicality while also enabling the pursuit of investment opportunities. The Company has a
comprehensive and disciplined internal approval process for capital expenditures, new projects and debt incurrence.

The capital of the Company consists of debt, which includes borrowings (NVote 21) less cash and cash equivalents, short-
term deposits and equity, comprising share capital, additional paid-in capital, other reserves and retained earnings (Note
20).

The Company’s management regularly reviews the capital structure. As part of this review, management considers the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Also, to achieve this overall objective, the Company’s
capital management, among other things, aims to ensure that it meets financial covenants attached to borrowings that
define capital structure requirements.

There have been no breaches of the financial covenants of any borrowing in the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021
(Note 21).

in millions of tenge 2022 2021
Borrowings and bonds 4,367,446 3,225,668
Less: cash and short-term bank deposits (870,456) (653,484)
Net debt 3,496,990 2,572,184
Equity 11,903,002 8,334,243
Capital and net debt 15,399,992 10,906,427

No changes were made in the overall strategy, objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Fair value

The current value of financial instruments and investment property of the Company as at December 31, 2022 and 2021 is
the reasonable approximation of their fair values except for the following financial instruments disclosed below:

December 31, 2022

Current Fair Fair value by level of assessment

In millions of tenge value value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial assets at amortized

cost
Bonds receivable from

Samruk - Kazyna 19,599 20,138 = 20,138 =
Notes of National Bank of RK 70,188 70,188 70,188 - =
Loans due from related parties 202,830 203,693 = - 203,693
Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss
L.oans due from related parties 53,889 53,889 = = 53,889
Financial liabilities at

amortized cost .
Fixed interest rate borrowings 4,343,678 3,933,248 2,476,894 1,456,354 =
Financial guarantees
Financial guarantees 29,190 27,865 = = 27,865
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Fair value (continued)

December 31, 2021

Carrying Fair Fair value by level of assessment

In millions of tenge amount value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial assets at amortized

cost
Bonds receivable from

Samruk - Kazyna 18,373 16,925 = 16,925 =
Loans due from related parties 690,472 694,210 & 448,658 245,552
Financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss
Loans due from related parties 74612 74,612 = = 74,612
Financial liabilities at

amortized cost
Fixed interest rate borrowings 3,213,313 3,750,869 3,210,632 540,237 &
Financial guarantees
Financial guarantees 35,716 33,313 - = 33,313

The table below provides a breakdown by expected credit losses level of financial assets:

December 31, 2022

December 31, 2021

Expected

Gross Allowance credit Gross Allowance Expected credit

carrying for expected losses carrying  for expected losses

In millions of tenge amount _ credit losses coverage amount  credit losses coverage

Level 1 70,192 4) 0.006% - - -
Level 2 19,665 (66) 0.34% 471,760 (1,406) 0.30%
Level 3 259,436 (2,717) 1.05% 316,217 (3.114) 0.98%
349,293 {2,787) 0.80% 787,977 (4,520) 0.57%

The fair value of bonds receivable from the Samruk-Kazyna and other debt instruments have been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows at market interest rates.

All financial instruments for which fair value is recognized or disclosed are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole, as follows:

° Level | — quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

. Level 2 — valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is

directly or indirectly observable.

. Level 3 — valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is

unobscrvable.

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the reporting period, and no transfers into or out of Level 3

category.

For assets and liabilities that are recognized at fair value on a recurring basis, the Company determines whether transfers
have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. There were no changes in the
Company’s valuation processes, valuation techniques, and types of inputs used in the fair value measurements during the

year.
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NOTES TO THE SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Fair value (continued)

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy are shown below:

Valuation Significant _._ Range as of December 31,
technique unobservable inputs 2022 2021
Loans due from related parties at
amortized cost DCF method Discount and interest rate 6.3%-19.8% 4.1%-17.3%
Financial guarantees 6.3%-19.8% 4.6%-17.3%

27. FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Operating environment

Kazakhstan continues economic reforms and development of its legal, tax and regulatory frameworks as required by a
market economy. The future stability of the Kazakhstan economy is largely dependent upon these reforms and
developments and the effectiveness of economic, financial and monetary measures undertaken by the government.

Since the beginning of March 2020, the world markets are experiencing a significant volatility in oil demand and oil
prices, in particular as a result of COVID-19 pandemic. Kazakhstan tenge value has fallen significantly against the major
world currencies. In the opinion of the Company’s management, these trends will not have a material impact on the
Company's future financial position, results of operations and business prospects.

Legal proceedings

In the opinion of management, there are no current legal proceedings or other claims outstanding, which could have a
material negative effect on the separate financial results or financial position of the Company and which have not been
accrued or disclosed in these separate financial statements.

Taxation

Kazakhstan’s tax legislation and regulations are subject to ongoing changes and varying interpretations. Instances of
inconsistent opinions between local, regional and national tax authorities are not unusual, including opinions with respect
{0 IFRS Lreatment of revenues, expenses and other items in the financial statements. The current regime of penalties and
interest related to reported and discovered violations of Kazakhstan’s tax laws are severe. Due lo uncertainties associated
with Kazakhstan’s tax system, the ultimate amount of taxes, penalties and interest, if any, may be in excess of the amount
expensed to date and accrued at December 31,2022, As at December 31, 2022, Management believes that its interpretation
of the relevant legisiation is appropriate and that it is probable that the Company’s tax positions will be sustained, except
as provided for or otherwise disclosed in these separate financial statements.

Transfer pricing control

Transfer pricing control in Kazakhstan has a very wide scope and applies to many transactions that directly or indirectly
relate to international business regardless of whether the transaction participants are related or not. The transfer pricing
legislation requires that all taxes applicable to a transaction should be calculated based on market price determined in
accordance with the arm’s length principle. The law on transfer pricing came into force in Kazakhstan from January 1, 2009.
The law is not explicit and there is little precedence with some of its provisions. Moreover, the law is not supported by
detailed guidance for application of transfer pricing control to various types, as a result, there is a risk that the tax
authorities may take a position that differs from the Company’s position, which could result in additional taxes, fines and
interest. As at December 31, 2022 management believes that its interpretation of the transfer pricing legislation is
appropriate and that it is probable that the Company’s positions with regard to transfer pricing will be sustained.

Commitments under subsoil use contract

According to the terms of subsurface use contracts signed by the Company with the Government of the Republic of
Kazakhstan, the Company has certain commitments on fulfilment of minimal work programs related to its oil and gas
projects.

As at December 31, 2022, the Company failed to comply with work programs under some of its subsurface use contracts
in full. Management believes that the outstanding amounts can be transferred to subsequent years and that such transfer
will not result in termination of subsoil use contracts.
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28. IMPACTS OF THE WAR IN UKRAINE

Since February 2022, due to the conflict between the Russian Federation and Ukraine, numerous sanctions have been
announced by a majority of western countries against the Russian Federation. These sanctions are targeted to have a
negative economic impact on the Russian Federation.

Due to the growing geopolitical tensions, since February 2022, there has been a significant increase in volatility in the
securities and currency markets, as well as a significant depreciation of the tenge against the US dollar and the euro. There
has also been a significant increase in the key rate of the National Bank of RK from 9.75% to 16.75% during the year.

Assessment of significant influence

In accordance with IAS 28 Investments in associates and joint ventures, the Company has assessed and confirmed that
the changes in the legal and operating environment of Russia and Ukraine have not impacted the ability to exercise
significant influence over the CPC, KMG’s associate, in Russia.

Operating environment of CPC, KMG’s associate

On March 23, 2022, CPC, stopped loading oil at the Black Sea terminal due to damage of two out of three single-point
moorings (SPM) caused by a storm. On April 24, 2022, oil loading at the second of three SPM systems on the CPC
network at Novorossiysk was resumed.

On April 27, 2022, a Russian Court (the Arbitration Court of the Krasnodar Territory) fully satisfied the claim of
Rosprirodnadzor to recover from the CPC damage from an oil spill at the CPC Marine Terminal {occurred in August
2021), of 5.2 billion Russian ruble (equivalent to 30 billion tenge). The CPC recognized a provision for the full amount.

In the separate financial statements of the Company, the provision was reflected in share in profit of associate for the
2022.

On July 6, 2022, a Russian Court (Primorsky District Court) ordered CPC to suspend operations for 30 days. Later the
month-long suspension was replaced by a 200,000 Russian rubles fine (equivalent to 3,300 US dollars). CPC reflected
this fine in its accounting books in July 2022. The operations of CPC were not stopped during the above period.

On August 22, 2022 while performing scheduled maintenance on SPM-1 and SPM-2, divers discovered cracks in subsea
hose attachments to buoyancy tanks. On November [2 and 29, 2022, both SPM-1 and SPM-2 on the CPC nctwork at
Novorossiysk have resumed their operations.

All matters occurred during 2022 are resolved during the year, no further developments.

Impact of sanctions

Staxtiné February 5, 2023, the European Union imposed a ban on imports of Russian diesel, jet fuel and other oil products
transported via sea. This measure is not applicable to Company’s operations in Kazakhstan or internationally.
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29. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Purchasing of short-term notes

In January 2023, the Company purchased short-terin notes of the National Bank of RK in the total amount of 38,019
million tenge, and previously purchased by the Company in 2022 and 2023 short-term notes of the National Bank of RK
in the amount of 108,019 million tenge were redeemed by the issuer.

In April 19, 2023 and May 3, 2023, the Company purchased short-term notes of the National Bank of RK in the total
amount of 80,000 million tenge and 66,000 million tenge, respectively.

Creation of subsidiary

On February 27, 2023, the Company entered into a contract with the Ministry of Energy of the RK for the production of
hydrocarbons at the Kalamkas-Sea, Khazar and Auezov subsoil blocks located in the Kazakhstani sector of the Caspian
Sea.

Additional contribution to share capital

In May 5, 2023, the Company made additional contribution in cash to the share capital of KMTF in the amount of 7,050
million tenge.
Return of share capital

In February 2023, Cooperative KMG U.A., subsidiary of the Company, returned the share capital in the amount of 9
million US dollars (equivalent to 4,097 million tenge).

In March 2023, TH N.V. returned the share capital in the amount of 4.6 million US doliars (equivalent to 2,052 million
tenge).

Early redemption of bonds

On April 26, 2023, the Company made an early repayment of Eurobonds in the amount of 501 million US dollars with
an interest rate of 4.75% and maturity in 2025, including premium for early repayment and coupon payment.

Dividends received

In Aprit 2023, the Company received dividends from the joint ventures, PETROSUN, KGM and KOA, in the amount of
19,600 million tenge, 4,563 million tenge and 3,500 million tenge, respectively.

In April 2023, the Company received dividends from the subsidiaries, KMG Karachaganak and Pavlodar Refinery, in the
amount 0f 45,025 million tenge and 10,000 million tenge, respectively.

Obligations coupon repayment

In April 2023, the Company made a coupon repayment of obligations placed at LSE in the amount of 75,937 million
tenge.

In April 2023, the Company made a coupon repayment of obligations purchased from Samruk-Kazyna in the amount of
11,274 million tenge.

Obligations issuance

On April 27, 2023, the Company issued bonds in the amount of 50,000 million tenge, maturing in 2033 at a rate 0f 0.5%,
to further transfer of the funds received from this issuance through the loan on similar terms to Main Waterline LLP with
the purpose of financing the project "Reconstruction and expansion of the main water pipeline" Astrakhan-Mangyshlak
"1st stage".
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Independent auditor’s report

To the Shareholders, Board of Directors and Management of Joint Stock Company “National
Company “KazMunayGas"

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Joint Stock Company "National Company
"KazMunayGas" and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2022, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022 and its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs).

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code)
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the Republic of Kazakhstan, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each
matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

A memper firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited
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We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report, inciuding in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.

The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters
below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial

statements.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit
matter

Impairment of non-current assets

We consider this matter to be one of the
matters of most significance in our audit due
to materiality of the balances of non-current
assets, including upstream, downstream and
midstream assets, to the consolidated
financial statements, the high level of
subjectivity in respect of assumptions
underlying impairment analysis and
significant judgements and estimates made by
management.

Assumptions included discount rates, oil and
petroleum products prices forecasts and
inflation and exchange rate forecasts.
Significant estimates included production
forecast, future capital expenditure and oil
and gas reserves available for development
and production.

Information on non-current assets and the
impairment tests performed is disclosed in
notes 4 and 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

A member fiem of Ernst 8 Yong Gloval Limited
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We considered management’s assessment of
the existence of impairment indicators and
where impairment indicators were identified,
we involved our business valuation specialists
in the testing of management’s impairment
analysis and calculation of recoverable
amounts.

We analyzed the assumptions underlying
management forecasts. We compared oil and
petroleum products prices used in the
calculation of recoverable amount to available
market forecasts.

We compared the discount rates and long-
term growth rates to general market
indicators and other available evidence and
checked the adjustments made by
management when calculating the applicable
discount rate.

We tested the mathematical integrity of the
impairment models and assessed the analysis
of the sensitivity of the results of impairment
tests to changes in assumptions.

We performed procedures to assess
competence, capabilities and objectivity of
the external experts engaged by the Group to
estimate the volumes of oil and gas reserves
and prepare impairment models, where
applicable.

We analysed disclosures on impairment test in
the consolidated financial statements.
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Accounting for business combinations and
acquisitions of joint ventures

In 2022 the Group obtained control and joint
control over certain entities.

We consider this matter to be one of the
matters of most significance in our audit due
to the significance of businesses and
investments acquired to the consolidated
financial statements, and the complexity of
these transactions. In addition, management’s
judgement was applied when determining the
accounting policy to be used in respect of
these acquisitions.

Information about business combinations and
acquisitions is included in notes 6 and 7 to the
consolidated financial statements.

A member lirm of Erns: § Yourg Global L mitec

Cl

We examined the sale and purchase
agreements and other documents related to
these transactions and gained an
understanding of the main terms, nature and
structure of the transactions.

We inspected corporate approvals, corporate
and shareholders agreements and other legal
documents in order to understand the nature
of the transactions and assess management's
judgement in respect of the application of the
common control exemption from IFRS 3
“Business combinations”.

We evaluated the accounting policy applied by
the Group to the acquisition of investments in
joint ventures.

For the acquisitions under common control,
where financial information from the
predecessor’s financial statements was used,
we compared the information included in the
consolidated financial statements, including
the restatement of comparative information,
where applicable, with the available financial
information included in the financial
statements of previous owners.

We compared the amounts of consideration
paid by the Group to the related payment
supporting documents and contractual
commitments.

For acquisition of joint venture not under
common control, we assessed the
management’s estimates in respect of the fair
values of share in assets and liabilities
acquired.

We analyzed the related disclosure in the
consolidated financial statements.

3 years in
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Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognized and contingent
liabilities are disclosed by the Group in
respect of government inspections, provisions
for asset retirement obligations (ARQO) and
general legal proceedings, as well as other
matters.

In 2022 the Agency for protection and
development of the competition of the
Republic of Kazakhstan conducted an
inspection of certain entities within the
Group. In addition, the Group recorded
changes in certain estimates related to ARO.

The assessment as to whether, or not, a
liabitity should be recognized and whether
amounts can be reliably estimated involves
estimation and judgement. Predicting the
outcome of the matter and estimating the
potential impact if the outcome is unfavorable
represents a complex process and the
potential exposure on the consolidated
financial statements may be significant.

Calculation of ARO requires significant
judgment due to the inherent complexity in
estimating future costs and due to
significance of this liability. Most of these
obligations are expected to be settled in a
long-term perspective. The Group involved
specialists to assess the ARO. Management's
assumptions used in the calculation include
expected approach to decommissioning and
discount rates, along with the effects of
changes ininflation rates.

Assessment of legal and constructive
obligations of the Group related to the
liquidation of each asset according to the
contractual agreements and relevant local
legislation requires management's judgement
and evaluation and implies variability.

We considered provisions and contingent
liabilities to be one of the matters of most
significance in our audit because of their

potential significance to the consolidated

A~ memeer firt of Ernct & Young Global Limited

Clg

We inquired the Group's management and
legal department for instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulations and the
status of any pending and ongoing litigations,
claims and proceedings. We obtained legal
letters from internal legal advisers.

We inspected relevant correspondence, the
minutes of the meetings of the Group's
management and Board of Directors.

We have analysed the results of government
inspections, disclosed in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements and
discussed them with the Group's legal
department.

Our procedures in respect of ARO included
assessment of legal and constructive
obligations related to the liguidation of each
asset on the basis of contractual agreements
and refevant local legislation.

We considered the competence and
objectivity of the specialists involved by the
Group, who produced the cost estimates as a
basis for ARO. We compared the discount and
inflation rates used to available external data.
We checked mathematical accuracy of the
calculations.

We have also assessed changes in estimated
future costs related to ARO and assessed how
the Group took into consideration the recent
changes in the related legislation.

We analysed the Group's management’s
estimates underlying the amounts recognized
as provisions in the consolidated financial
statements and assessed judgements in
respect of the probability of potential
outcomes of contingent liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements.

We analysed the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.
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financial statements, the level of judgment
required and the 2022 events describe above.

Information on provisions, contingent
liabilities and commitments is disclosed in
notes 29 and 35 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Other information included in the Group’s 2022 annual report

Other information consists of the information included in the Group's 2022 Annual Report, other
than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. Management is
responsible for the other information. The Group's 2022 Annual Report is expected to be made
available to us after the date of this auditor's report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we
will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information, when it becomes available, and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of management and the Audit Committee for the consolidated financial
statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is

necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of

assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect

a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

3 years in
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» ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resuiting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

» Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

» Conciude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

» Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in @ manner that achieves fair
presentation.

» Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

3 years in
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financia! statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless iaw or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of

such communication.

The partner in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Kairat

Medetbayev.

':;-.-r' \
Kairat Medetbayev / Rustamzhan Sattarov
Auditor General Director

Auditor Qualification Certificate
No. MO-0000137 dated 8 February 2013

050060, Republic of Kazakhstan, Almaty
Al-Farabi ave., 77/7, Esentai Tower

6 March 2023

A membar fum cf Ernst & yeung Global Linitec

it

Ernst & Young LLP

State audit license for audit activities on
the territory of the Republic of Kazakhstan:
series MOHK-2 No. 0000003 issued by the
Ministry of finance of the Republic of
Kazakhstan on 15 July 2005
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JSC NC “KazMunayGas™ Consolidated financial statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the years ended Deceimber 31

2021

In millions of tenge Note 2022 (restated)*
Continuing operations
Revenue and other income
Revenue from contracts with customers 8 8,686,384 6.459.335
Share in profit of joint ventures and associates, net 9 991,310 680,292
Finance income 16 120,587 85,226
Gain on sale of joint ventures - 19.835
Other operating income 22,283 30,779
Total revenue and other income 9,820,564 7.275467
Costs and expenses
Cost of purchased oil, gas. petroleum products and other materials 10 (4,954,384) (3.607.202)
Production expenses 11 (1,142,388) (721,057)
Taxes other than income tax 12 {677,805) (461,244)
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 36 (506.585) (523.044)
Transportation and selling expenses 13 {205,340) (183.439)
General and administrative expenses 14 (160,168) (151,392)
impairment of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and

assets classified as held for sale 15 (708) (20,724,
Exploration expenses 15 (12,113} (79.083)
Finance costs 16 (306,846) (262.823)
Foreign exchange gain, net 40,925 17.565
Other expenses 29 (84,586) (27,714)
Total costs and expenses (8,009,998) (6,020.157)
Profit before income tax 1,810,566 1.255,310
Income tax expenses 32 (493,247) (321.248)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 1,317,319 934,062
Discontinued operations
Profit after income tax for the year from discontinued operations 5 - 352,478
Net profit for the year 1,317,319 1,286,540

The uccarnting policies wid explunators notes on pages 10 through 99 form wi integral part of these

censolictated financial statennnts.




JSC NC “KazMunayGas™

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)

Consolidated financial statements

For the years ended December 31

2021
in millions of tenge 2022 (restated)*
Other comprehensive (loss)/income
Other comprehensive (loss)/income to be reclassified to profit or

loss in subsequent periods
Hedging effect 30 (11,872) 10,055
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 508,202 170,921
Tax effect (36,525) (11,818)
Net other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or

loss in the subsequent periods, net of tax 459,805 169,158
Other comprehensive income/(loss) not to be reclassified to profit

or loss in subsequent periods
Actuarial gain on defined benefit plans of the Group, net of tax 9,075 5,959
Actuarial loss on defined benefit plans of the joint ventures, net of

tax (19) (169)
Tax effect (116) (48)
Net other comprehensive gain not to be reclassified to profit

or loss in the subsequent periods, net of tax 8,940 5742
Net other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 468,745 174,900
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 1,786,064 1,461.440
Net profit/(loss) for the year attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company 1,289,118 1,304,761
Non-controlling interests 28,201 (18.221)

1,317,319 1.286,540
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year attributable to:
Equity holders of the Parent Company 1,756,410 1,477,856
Non-controlling interests 29,654 (16,416)
1,786,064 1.461,440

Earnings per share** - tenge thousands
Basic and diluted 26 2.159 2.109
Basic and diluted, from continuing operations 2.159 1.531
Basic and diluted. from discontinued operations - 0.578

Cortan numbers showsn here do not correspond to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31,2021 and refloct

adjustments e, refer 1o Note 6

L The aumber of ordinury shares as of Decembdr 3102022 and 2021 equaled 10 610,119,493

Deputy Chairman of the Management Board

Chief accountant

The wccounting peodicies and explanatory notes op pages 10 through 99 torm an integral part of ihese

consolidated financial statements
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JSCNC “KazMuanayGas”

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Consolidated financial statements

As at December 31

2021
in millions of tenge Note 2022 (restated)*
Assets
Non-current assets
Exploration and evaluation assets 18 251,280 235,004
Property. plant and equipment 17 6,989,837 6,725.910
Investment property 17,304 19,711
Intangible assets 19 918,253 889,491
Right-of-use assets 76,567 68.145
Investments in joint ventures and associates 21 4,947,403 4,145,646
VAT receivable 16,760 11.972
Advances for non-current assets 52,982 40.845
Other non-current non-financial assets 3,713 7.913
Loans and receivables due from related parties 24 129,857 142,394
Other non-current financial assets 10,672 13,248
Long-term bank deposits 20 59,229 56.058
Deferred income tax assets 02 41,598 34,035

13,515,455 12.390,372

Current assets
Inventories 22 309,425 300,592
Trade accounts receivable 23 519,537 501,394
VAT receivable 42,697 31,379
Income tax prepaid 32 36,167 25,165
Other current non-financial assets 23 109,137 85,673
Loans and receivables due from related parties 24 119,874 485,765
Other cunent financial assets 23 57,057 329,772
Short-term bank deposits 20 1,178,138 562.352
Cash and cash equivalents 25 762,817 1,144,193
3,134,849 3,466.285
Assets classified as held for sale 459 795
3,135,308 3,467,080
Total assets 16,650,763 15.857.452

The accounting policies and expluniory noies on puges 10 through 99 fora an iniegral part of these
consolidated fincicial statements.
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JSC NC “KazMunayGas™

Consolidated financial statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

As at December 31

2021

In millions of tenge Note 2022 (restated)”
Equity and liabilities
Equity
Share capital 26 916,541 916,541
Additional paid-in capital 1,142 1.142
Other equity (1,759) 10,113
Currency translation reserve 4,209,612 3,738,581
Retained earnings 4,809,455 5,439,811
Attributable to equity holders of the Parent Company 9,934,991 10,106,188
Non-controlling interests 26 (61,541) (89,282)
Total equity 9,873,450 10,016.906
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 27 3,775,891 3,261,347
Lease liabilities 28 65,872 56,412
Other non-current financial liabilities 30 15,080 15,9815
Provisions 29 276,818 330,659
Other non-current non-financial liabilities 3 41,548 39,448
Deferred income tax liabilities 32 999,010 703,200

5,174,219 4,406,981
Current liabilities
Trade accounts payable 30 564,906 558,266
Borrowings 27 367,443 484,980
Lease liabilities 28 15,682 18,009
Other current financial liabilities 30 283,717 69,418
Provisions 29 63,076 24,511
Income tax payable 32 66,648 6,882
Other taxes payable 31 148,477 137,055
Other current non-financial liabilities 30 93,145 134,444
= 1,603,094 1.433.565
Total liabilities 6,777,313 5,840,546
Total equity and liabilities 16,650,763 15,857,452
Book value per ordinary share** - tenge thousands 26 14.678 14.960

> Cerram mumbers shown ficre do ot correspond to the consolidated financield siaenients for the vear ended December 312021 and reflect adjustments

mutide, refer o Now 6

U The swamher of ordinary sivees as of December 3102022 000 2021 equeadod 1o 610119 493 Presentanion of Book value per ordman share s a non-

TERS measure required by KASE

Deputy Chairman of the Management Board

Chiet accountant

ergeniova

The weconntmg policies and explanatory notes on pages 10 through 99 forn wiintegral part of these

comvolidated financral statemnents
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JSC NC “KazMunayGas™ Consolidated financial statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the years ended December 31,

2021

In millions of tenge Note 2022 (restated)*
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before income tax from continuing operations 1,810,566 1.255.310
Profit before income tax from discontinued operations = 407,993
Profit before income tax 1,810,566 1.663,303
Adjustments:
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 36 506,585 523,044
Depreciation, depletion and amortization from discontinued

operations 5 = 63,502
Impairment of property. plant and equipment, intangible assets and

assets classified as held for sale 15 708 20,724
Exploration expenses 15 12,113 79.083
Impairment of investments in joint venture and associate 21 = 64
Realized losses from derivatives on petroleum products 11 121,539 14,954
Finance income 16 {120,587) (85.226)
Finance income from discontinued operations 5 - (19.750)
Finance costs 16 306,846 252,823
Finance costs from discontinued operations S = 36,330
Gain on sale of joint venture = (19,835)
Share in profit of joint ventures and associates. net 9 (991,310} (680.292)
Share in profit of joint ventures and associates from discontinued

operations, net & = (275.100)
Movements in provisions 78,603 (140,318)
Net foreign exchange gain (34,290) (6.565)
Write off of inventories to net realizable value 4,236 4,906
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment, intangible

assets. investment property and assets held for sale. net 2,623 (2,259)
Reversal of impairment of VAT receivable 14 {1,942) (5.144)
Change in financial guarantees 122 3.527
VAT non-recoverable 14 2,582 2,599
Allowance of expected credit loss for trade receivables and other

assets 14 2,758 3.453
Other adjustments = 427
Operating profit before working capital changes 1,701,152 1.444.250
Change in VAT receivable (14,118) 81.409
Change in inventory (116,439) (96.521)
Change in trade accounts receivable and other current assets 32,933 (206.440)
Change in trade and other payables and contract liabilities (112,525) (52.217)
Change in other taxes payable {58,183) (52,580)
Cash generated from operations 1,432,820 1.117.901
Dividends received from joint ventures and associates 21 462,308 415,359
Income taxes paid (144,013) (111.3986)
Interest received 49,471 39,977
Interest paid 27,28 (233,280) (252,366)
Net cash flow from operating activities 1,567,307 1,209.475

The acconnting policies and explanaiory notes on puges 1) throwgli 99 form anintegral part of these
consolidated finuncial statemonts.
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JSC NC “KazMunayGas™

Consolidated tinancial statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

For the years ended December 31,

2021

In miliions of tenge Note 2022 (restated)”
Cash flows from investing activities
Placement of bank deposits (1,698,647) (966.217)
Withdrawal of bank deposits 1,138,293 681,538
Acquisition of subsidiary 6 (1,198,317) =
Purchase of property. plant and equipment, intangible assets and

exploration and evaluation assets (451,474) (453.799)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment, exploration

and evaluation assets and assets held for sale 2,219 71,084
Cash of disposed subsidiaries, net (4,137) (375.910)
Additional contributions to joint ventures without changes in

ownership 21 (15,398) (1,926)
Proceeds from disposal of joint ventures - 17,169
Loans given to related parties 33 (42,018) (73,274)
Repayment of loans due from related parties 33 38,190 24,438
Acquisition of debt securities = {14.741)
Proceeds from sale of debt securities 118 10.528
Redeem of notes of the National Bank of RK 24 17,000 <
Acaquisition of notes of the National Bank of RK 24 (87,000) =
Other (1,138) (2,918)
Net cash flows used in investing activities (2,302,309) (1.084,028)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings 27 980,634 451,096
Repayment of borrowings 27 (216,243) (339,552)
Reservation of cash for payment of borrowings** = (292.258)
Dividends paid to Samruk-Kazyna and National Bank of RK 26 (199,997) (49,999)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 26 (1,975) (5.756)
Distributions to Samruk-Kazyna 26 (266,069) (534)
Contribution from the related party 26 3,742 16.396
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities 28 (19,709) (53,382)
Return of insurance premium 27 7,370 -
Net cash flows from/{used in) financing activities 287,753 (273.989)
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 65,759 26,482
Change in allowance for expected credit losses 114 (136)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents (381,376) (122,196)
Cash and cash equivalents. at the beginning of the year 1,144,193 1,266,389
Cash and cash equivalents, at the end of the year 762,817 1,144,193
2 Certuin numbers shovwn here do not correspond to the conseliduted financial statements for the year ended December 31, 3021 and reflect

aeljustments made. refer 1o Note 6

The uecomming policies and explanatery notes on puges 10 through 99 jorm an miegral part of tiese

consolidated financiul xtaremenis
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JSC NC ~KazMunayGas® Consolidated financial statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

Non-cash trunsactions

2= i dune and November 2021 the Ciroup made reservation of cash i total amownt of 292,238 million tenge for repayment of loan from The
. 3 p 0 2 § PULIHI G
Expore-Impors Bank of Chuia, wcluding interest uccrned. The lon was repaid i July 2021 jor 32.799 nallion tenge (Newe 27) and in Jasare
2022 jor 239439 mullion wenge (Nores 23 and 27). Repavment of the loun sras treated as non-cash transaction

As at December 31, 2022 the financial aid provided to Samruk-Kuzyna has been fullv repaid by seting of against the payable for the acquisition of
49 30% ownershup mierest in Kazakhstan Petrochenucal ndustries Ine. LLE for 911735 milfion tenge. pavable for the acquisition of 49.9%6 exvnership
wierest in Slleno LLE for 816 million teage cod the pare of th: pavable for exercistng the Opuaa e 424357 million ienge (vequesition of Kushagan)
(Notes 6, 24 und 33)

f Deputy Chairman of the Management Board

Chief accountant

A.S. Yeshergenova

—

The ucconntmg policres ancd explanatory notes on pages 10 through 99 form an intesaral part of these
R a & il B
consolidated financral starements
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JSC NC “KazMunayGas” Consolidated financial statements

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL

Joint stock company “National Company “KazMunayGas® (further the Company, JSC NC “KazMunayGas®“ or Parent
Company) is oil and gas enterprise of the Republic of Kazakhstan (further RK), which was established on February 27,
2002 as a closed joint stock company pursuant to the Decree No. 811 of the President of the RK dated February 20, 2002
and the resolution of the Government of the RK (further the Government) No. 248 dated February 25, 2002.
The Company was formed as a result of the merger of closed joint stock companies “National Oil and Gas Company
Kazakhoil” and “National Company Transport Nefti i Gaza”. As the result of the merger, all assets and liabilities,
including ownership interest in all entities owned by these companies, have been transferred to the Company.
The Company was reregistered as a joint stock company in accordance with the legislation of the RK in March 2004.

Starting from June 8, 2006, the sole shareholder of the Company was joint stock company “K azakhstan Holding Company
for State Assets Management “Samruk”, which in October 2008 was merged with the state owned Sustainable
Development Fund “Kazyna” and formed joint stock company “National Welfare Fund Samruk-Kazyna”, now renamed
to joint stock company “Sovereign Wealth Fund Samruk-Kazyna” (further Samruk-Kazyna). The Government is the sole
shareholder of Samruk-Kazyna. On August 7, 2015, the National Bank of RK (further NB RK) purchased 9.58% plus one
share of the Company from Samruk-Kazyna. From December 8, 2022, 3.00% of shares of the Company are freely
available on the Astana International Exchange (further AIX) and the Kazakhstan Stock Exchange (further KASE) stock
exchanges.

As at December 31, 2022, the Company has interest in 59 operating companies (as of December 31, 2021: 60) (jointly
“the Group”).

The Company has its registered office in the RK, Astana, Dinmukhamed Kunayev, 8.
The principal activity of the Group includes, but is not limited, to the following:
e  Participation in the development and implementation of the uniform public policy in the oil and gas sector;
e Representation of the state interests in subsoil use contracts through interest participation in those contracts; and

e Corporate governance and monitoring of exploration, development, production, oil servicing, processing,
petrochemistry, transportation and sale of hydrocarbons and the designing, construction and maintenance of
oil-and-gas pipeline and field infrastructure.

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its controlled subsidiaries
(Note 3).

These consolidated financial statements of the Group were approved for issue by the Deputy Chairman of the Management
Board and the Chief accountant on March 6, 2023.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except as described in the
accounting policies and the notes to these consolidated financial statements. All values in these consolidated financial
statements are rounded to the nearest millions, except when otherwise indicated.

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to the Group consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

In course of preparation of these consolidated financial statements the Group management considered the current
international economic and geopolitical environment including the war in Ukraine (Note 37).The consolidated financial
statements were prepared on a going concern basis.
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JSC NC “KazMunayGas” Consolidated financial statements

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities included in these consolidated financial
statements are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entities operate
(the functional currency). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Kazakhstan tenge (tenge or KZT), which
is the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognized in profit or loss with the exception of
monetary items that are designated as part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment in foreign operation. These are
recognized in other comprehensive income until the net investment is disposed of, at which time, the cumulative amount
is reclassified to profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items are
also recorded in other comprehensive income.

Group Companies

The results and financial position of all of the Group’s subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

e  Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing rate at that
reporting date;

e Income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive income presented are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the rate on the date of the transaction);
and

o  All resulting exchange differences are recognized as a separate component of other comprehensive income.

Exchange rates

Weighted average currency exchange rates established by KASE are used as official currency exchange rates in the
Republic of Kazakhstan. The currency exchange rate of KASE as at December 31, 2022 was 462.65 tenge to 1 United
States dollar (US dollar). This rate was used to translate monetary assets and liabilities denominated in US dollar as at
December 31, 2022 (2021: 431.80 tenge to 1 US dollar). The currency exchange rate of KASE as at March 6, 2023 was
432.83 tenge to 1 US dollar. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group had net foreign exchange gain of KZT
40,925 million due to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates to tenge.
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JSC NC “KazMunayGas” Consolidated financial statements

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Renegotiation of loans in the context of IBOR reform

In the context of IBOR reform, some financial instruments have already been amended or will be amended as they
transition from IBORs to risk free rates (further RFR). In addition to the interest rate of a financial instrument changing,
there may be other changes made to the terms of the financial instrument at the time of transition. For financial instruments
measured at amortised cost, the Group first applies the following practical expedients:

e A practical expedient to require contractual changes, or changes to cash flows that are directly required by
the reform, to be treated as changes to a floating interest rate, equivalent to a movement in a market rate of
interest;

e  Permit changes required by IBOR reform to be made to hedge designations and hedge documentation without
the hedging relationship being discontinued,

e Provide temporary relief to entities from having to meet the separately identifiable requirement when an RFR
instrument is designated as a hedge of a risk component.

Second, for any changes not covered by the practical expedient, the Group applies judgement to assess whether
the changes are substantial and if they are, the financial instrument is derecognized and a new financial instrument is
recognized. If the changes are not substantial, the Group adjusts the gross carrying amount of the financial instrument by
the present value of the changes not covered by the practical expedient, discounted using the revised effective interest
rate.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

New and amended standards and interpretations

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are consistent with those
followed in the preparation of the Group’s annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31,
2021, except for the adoption of new standards and interpretations effective as of January 1, 2022.

The Group has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not yet
effective.

Several amendments and interpretations apply for the first time in 2022, but do not have an impact on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

The Group presented only the list of standards effective and applicable for the Group.

Onerous Contracts — Costs of Fulfilling a Contract — Amendments to IAS 37

The amendments specify that when assessing whether a contract is onerous or loss-making, an entity needs to include
costs that relate directly to a contract to provide goods or services including both incremental costs and an allocation of
costs directly related to contract activities. General and administrative costs do not relate directly to a contract and are
excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract. These amendments had no impact
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group as there were no onerous contracts identified.

Reference to the Conceptual Framework — Amendments to IFRS 3

The amendments add an exception to the recognition principle of IFRS 3 Business Combinations to avoid the issue of
potential ‘day 2’ gains or losses arising for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within the scope of IAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets or IFRIC 21 Levies, if incurred separately. The exception
requires entities to apply the criteria in IAS 37 or [FRIC 21, respectively, instead of the Conceptual Framework, to
determine whether a present obligation exists at the acquisition date. These amendments had no impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group as there were no contingent assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
within the scope of these amendments arisen during the period.
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JSC NC “KazMunayGas” Consolidated financial statements

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued)
New and amended standards and interpretations (continued)

Property, Plant and Equipment. Proceeds before Intended Use — Amendments to IAS 16

The amendment prohibits entities from deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment, any proceeds
of the sale of items produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, an entity recognizes the proceeds from selling such items, and
the costs of producing those items, in profit or loss. These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group as there were no sales of such items produced by property, plant and equipment made available
for use on or after the beginning of the earliest period presented.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments — Fees in the ‘10 per cent’ test for derecognition of financial liabilities

The amendment clarifies the fees that an entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or modified financial
liability are substantially different from the terms of the original financial liability. These fees include only those paid or
received between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower or lender on
the other’s behalf. There is no similar amendment proposed for IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement. These amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group as there were no
modifications of the Group’s financial instruments during the period.

Standards issued but not yet effective
There are new pronouncements issued as at 31 December 2022:
o Definition of Accounting Estimates - Amendments to IAS 8
e Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS 2 Practice Statement
e Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction — Amendments to IAS 12
e [Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback — Amendments to IFRS 16
o Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current - Amendments to IAS 1

e Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture - Amendments to IFRS
10 and IAS 28

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2022. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group
controls an investee if and only if the Group has: power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee); exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
investee, and; the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights result in control. To support this presumption and when
the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including: the contractual arrangement with the other
vote holders of the investee; rights arising from other contractual arrangements; the Group’s voting rights and potential
voting rights.

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over
the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control over the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
from the date the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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